          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          3

             -------------------------------x

          4

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          5

                       of the

          6

             COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          7

             -------------------------------x

          8

          9                 February 26, 1999

                            Start:  1:32 p.m.

         10                 Recess: 5:06 p.m.

         11                 City Hall

                            Committee Room

         12                 New York, New York

         13

                  B E F O R E:

         14

                         STANLEY MICHELS

         15                                Chairperson,

         16

                         COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Sheldon Leffler

         17                                 Helen Marshall

                                            John Sabini

         18                                 A. Gifford Miller

                                            Stephen Fiala

         19                                 Archie Spigner

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         217 Broadway -  Suite 511

         25              New York, New York 10007

                              (800) 756-3410

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             Douglas H. White

          4  Senior Policy Advisor

             U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 2

          5

             George Pavlou

          6  Director

             Division of Enforcement and Compliance Assistance

          7  U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 2

          8  John Kushwara

             Chief, Groundwater Compliance Section

          9  U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 2

         10  David Bernstein

             Environmental Scientist

         11  Groundwater Compliance Section

             U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 2

         12

             Luis M. Tormenta, P.E.

         13  Commissioner

             NYC Department of Design and Construction

         14

             Joanna Pestka

         15  Assistant Commissioner

             NYC Department of Design and Construction

         16

             Anthony Marino

         17  Deputy Program Director

             Transportation Unit

         18  NYC Department of Design and Construction

         19  Inga Vaneisten, Esquire

             Environmental Division

         20  NYC Law Department

         21  Julian Basil

             Counsel

         22  NYC Fire Department

         23  Harold Meyers

             Chief of Technology Management

         24  Bureau of Fire Prevention

             NYC Fire Department

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            3

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S (CONTINUED)

          3

             James Hanson

          4  Chief Engineer

             Bureau of Fire Prevention

          5  NYC Fire Department

          6  William Stasiuk

             Deputy Commissioner

          7  Water Supply Quality and Protection, Upstate

             NYC Department of Environmental Protection

          8

             Mark Hoffer

          9  General Counsel

             NYC Department of Environmental Protection

         10

             Louis Tazzy

         11  Deputy Commissioner for Management and Budget

             NYC Department of Environmental Protection

         12

             Cathy Kenny

         13  Associate Director

             New York State Petroleum Council

         14

             James McPartlin

         15  53rd Street Service Station, Inc.

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            4

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Good afternoon.

          3  Welcome to the Committee on Environmental

          4  Protection. I am Councilman Stanley Michels, and we

          5  welcome you to this Committee hearing.

          6                 This afternoon

          7  the Committee will explore the issue of underground

          8  storage tanks, known as USTs, I still find it easier

          9  to say underground storage tanks. We will hear from

         10  representatives of the United States Environmental

         11  Protection Agency, who are seated in front of us

         12  right now, who will tell us about the federal UST,

         13  underground storage tank regulations that were

         14  promulgated in 1988, and which UST owners were

         15  required to be in full compliance with by December

         16  of 1998.

         17                 Unlike many federal environmental

         18  programs, authority for the enforcement of these

         19  regulations has not been fully delegated to the New

         20  York State Department of Environmental Conservation.

         21  We wish to explore why the Department of

         22  Environmental Conservation has not assumed

         23  responsibility for this program.

         24                 We will also ask the EPA how it will

         25  enforce this program in New York City and New York
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          2  State, with what I understand are meager enforcement

          3  resources. The EPA estimates that there are over

          4  3,300 underground storage tanks in the City that do

          5  not comply with federal standards, and over 17,000

          6  statewide. And as you know this is in District 2 of

          7  the EPA, which includes New York State, New Jersey,

          8  United States Virgin Islands and Puerto Rico. So we

          9  are talking about EPA District 2, that is covering

         10  that whole area.

         11                 We also wish to focus on the

         12  compliance with federal standards of USTs owned by

         13  the City of New York. It has come to our attention

         14  that in attempting to replace its USTs, the

         15  underground storage tanks, to comply with federal

         16  standards, the new federal standard which is much

         17  more stringent than the State standard, the City

         18  found that many of its tanks had been leaking. We

         19  understand that these leaks were the subject of a

         20  Consent Order that the City entered into with DEC,

         21  with the State, in 1994 which we have been told

         22  involves 500 contaminated UST sites around the City.

         23                 The Committee also understands that

         24  the City owns an additional 600 underground storage

         25  tanks which have not yet been fully examined for
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          2  compliance with federal standards and for possible

          3  leaks.

          4                 We will hear from members of the

          5  Giuliani Administration who will explain the

          6  Administration's efforts to bring the City's

          7  underground storage tanks into compliance with

          8  federal standards and to investigate and remediate

          9  what appears to be significant contamination from

         10  leaking tanks.

         11                 I also wish to thank Council Member

         12  Sabini and Council Member Spigner for introducing

         13  Res. No. 586, which calls for the Council to explore

         14  these matters. As you know, one of the reasons that

         15  we are so interested in this is because we have to

         16  protect our water supply, we have to protect the air

         17  which sometimes would involve these leaks and cause

         18  problems with air pollution, as well as water

         19  pollution, and can actually cause fires if the leaks

         20  are not contained.

         21                 So, this is a very important issue,

         22  it is a very dangerous situation, which is why the

         23  Feds have addressed it, which is why the State

         24  should do more to address it while the City should

         25  be in compliance.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 I would like to introduce the members

          3  of the Committee who are here right now. Mr.

          4  Leffler, at the extreme left of the table, from

          5  Queens. Mr. Sabini, from Queens also. Sitting next

          6  to him is Mr. Miller from Manhattan, and Archie

          7  Spigner from Queens who is joining us, not a member

          8  of the Committee but is a welcomed guest, as you

          9  know he is the Chair of the Housing and Buildings

         10  Committee, and as you know is, as I mentioned before

         11  is one of the co-sponsors of this resolution.

         12                 That being said, I will give an

         13  opportunity to Mr. Sabini to say a few words on

         14  this, since he is the protagonist in this respect.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman. This is an issue that has been evolving

         17  over the course of the last 15 years and has really

         18  come to a head since several deadlines have struck.

         19  And in looking at the issue and reading reports

         20  about the issue in the media, it seems very

         21  multifaceted and not a lot of clear solutions. I

         22  believe the Feds have given a mandate, in some ways

         23  you could argue it is an unfunded mandate, the

         24  State, New York State has frankly dropped the ball I

         25  believe in enforcing that mandate, the City seems to
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          2  be one of the worst offenders, from what we have

          3  seen, and yet all that being said, the leaching

          4  continues, in some cases harming the soil, in some

          5  cases threatening drinking water in parts of Queens,

          6  and in many cases, as we have all seen anecdotally,

          7  stopping construction of schools and businesses and

          8  some economic engines.  And I believe having as an

          9  experience in the environment in earlier jobs that

         10  remediation and inspection is -- I am sorry,

         11  inspection and prevention is a lot cheaper than

         12  remediation down the line. Remediation down the line

         13  often involves litigation, insurance, delay, anguish

         14  and frankly, a threat to the public health in some

         15  cases.

         16                 So, since we have three levels of

         17  government that I believe have, despite good

         18  intentions, put the issue in a light that frankly

         19  causes some alarm, I think it is important that we

         20  come to some conclusions as to where we go from here

         21  and what the best answer is ultimately, and instead

         22  of having fingerpointing and some of this passing

         23  the hot potato down the governmental chain, that we

         24  come up with some answers that New Yorkers can feel

         25  at ease with.
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          2                 I thank you for the opportunity to

          3  have the hearing today, and I want to thank Council

          4  Member Spigner, who frankly raised this issue a year

          5  ago and a resolution for joining me in this. Thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We are joined by

          8  Council Member Fiala, from Staten Island. Welcome.

          9                 Mr. Spigner, do you want to say a few

         10  words?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: No, not at

         12  this time.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay.

         14                 Well, we have witnesses in front of

         15  us from the EPA, some old friends and some new

         16  friends.

         17                 Would you identify yourselves, and do

         18  you have copies of your testimony?

         19                 MR. WHITE: Yes, we have them. Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, proceed.

         21                 MR. WHITE: Good afternoon, Chairman

         22  Michels and members of the Committee. My name is

         23  Doug White and I am a Senior Policy Advisor at the

         24  EPA Region 2. Thank you for this opportunity to

         25  address the Council Committee on Environmental
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          2  Protection.

          3                 Today I am here on behalf of Jean

          4  Fox, the Regional Administrator of Region 2.

          5  Unfortunately Jean Fox cannot attend today's hearing

          6  because she is in Washington meeting with Carol

          7  Browner. She sends her regrets but looks forward to

          8  working with the Committee in the future.

          9                 I am new to the Environmental

         10  Protection Agency, having just joined the region

         11  February 1st, however, I certainly see many familiar

         12  faces, Council Member Michels, Archie Spigner, John

         13  Sabini, we have all had some experiences in the

         14  past.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Good ones.

         16                 MR. WHITE: Good ones. Very good ones.

         17  Travel to Israel, just drinks, whatever.

         18                 Anyway, we don't want to talk about

         19  all of that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Tell everyone

         21  you were a Commissioner of Human Rights.

         22                 MR. WHITE: That's true. That's true,

         23  yes. However, the positions I held actually were

         24  Human Rights Commissioner for the State of New York,

         25  I was City Personnel Director for a couple of years
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          2  in the Dinkins Administration and various other

          3  positions.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: He is not a new

          5  kid on the block.

          6                 MR. WHITE: What was that?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You are not a

          8  new kid on the block.

          9                 MR. WHITE: Not a new kid on the

         10  block.

         11                 Anyway, I want to let you know, we

         12  really look forward to working with the Committee,

         13  and I am here to really introduce George Pavlou, who

         14  will be presenting the Region's testimony on the

         15  underground storage tanks and to answer your

         16  questions.

         17                 George.

         18                 MR. PAVLOU: Thank you, Doug.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you, Doug.

         20  I appreciate it.

         21                 MR. PAVLOU: Good afternoon, Chairman

         22  Michels, and members of the Committee. My name is

         23  George Pavlou, as Doug White has said. I am the

         24  Director of the Division of Enforcement and

         25  Compliance Assistance for the United States
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          2  Environmental Protection Agency in Region 2.

          3                 I am also pleased to have this

          4  opportunity to provide you with information on the

          5  federal underground storage tank program.

          6                 We me today I have John Kushwara, to

          7  my right, who is the Chief of our Groundwater

          8  Compliance Section, and David Bernstein, to my left,

          9  who is the environmental scientist with the

         10  Groundwater Compliance Section. And sitting in the

         11  audience is Barry Shor, our State and local

         12  government contact.

         13                 Until the mid-1980s, most underground

         14  storage tanks which store petroleum and hazardous

         15  substances were made of bare steel, which corrodes

         16  over time, leading to releases of petroleum and

         17  associated vapors into the environment. Improper

         18  installation or inadequate operating and maintenance

         19  procedures, also can cause releases.

         20                 The greatest potential hazard from

         21  leaking underground storage tanks is groundwater

         22  contamination, the source of drinking water for

         23  nearly half of all Americans. Leaking underground

         24  storage tanks can also contaminate subterranean

         25  areas, presenting other health and environmental
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          2  risks, including the potential for fire and

          3  explosion.

          4                 In 1984, Congress responded to the

          5  dangers posed by leaking underground storage tanks

          6  by adding Subtitle I to the Resource Conservation

          7  and Recovery Act, or as we call it RCRA for short.

          8                 Subtitle I required EPA to develop a

          9  comprehensive regulatory program for underground

         10  storage tanks storing petroleum or certain hazardous

         11  substances, with the exemption, I might say, of

         12  heating oil, which are excluded from federal

         13  regulation.

         14                 Congress directed EPA to develop

         15  regulations that would require owners and operators

         16  of new tanks, and tanks already in the ground, to

         17  prevent, detect and clean up releases.

         18                 At the same time Congress banned the

         19  installation of unprotected steel tanks and piping

         20  beginning in 1985.

         21                 In 1986, Congress amended Subtitle I

         22  of RCRA and created the leaking Underground Storage

         23  Tank, LUST for short, you know, Trust Fund, which is

         24  to be used to oversee clean-ups by responsible

         25  parties and to pay for clean-ups at sites where the
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          2  owner or operator is unknown, unwilling or unable to

          3  respond, or which would required emergency action.

          4                 In 1988, EPA issued regulations

          5  setting technical standards for all underground

          6  storage tanks and the State program approval

          7  objectives. EPA's technical regulations for

          8  underground storage tanks are designed to reduce the

          9  chance of releases from underground storage tanks,

         10  detect leaks and spills when they do occur and

         11  secure a prompt clean-up.

         12                 To meet the requirements, all

         13  underground storage tanks must have had a method or

         14  procedure in place to monitor for releases by 1993.

         15  Underground storage tanks owners and operators are

         16  responsible for reporting and cleaning up any

         17  releases.

         18                 Owners and operators must have

         19  upgraded, replaced, or closed substandard existing

         20  underground storage tank systems by December 22nd of

         21  1998.

         22                 The December 22nd, 1998 standards are

         23  designed to meet critical requirements aimed at

         24  protecting human health and the environment. EPA has

         25  not extended the deadline and expects facilities to
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          2  comply with the requirements to shut down

          3  non-compliant underground storage tank systems.

          4                 I should also mention that since the

          5  inception of the underground storage program, EPA

          6  has been sensitive to the needs for balancing our

          7  environmental goals with concerns about unduly

          8  impacting the regulated community and small

          9  businesses in general. That is why the EPA provided

         10  for a ten-year period to achieve compliance and did

         11  not extend the December 22nd, 1998 deadline.

         12                 EPA also recognized that because of

         13  the size and diversity of the regulated community,

         14  State and local governments were in the best

         15  position to oversee the underground storage tanks

         16  program. Subtitle I of RCRA allows State underground

         17  storage tank programs approved by EPA to operate in

         18  lieu of the federal program. EPA's State approval

         19  regulations set standards for State programs to

         20  meet. States must have equal or more stringent

         21  regulations than the federal requirements. Once a

         22  State program becomes approved, it is federally

         23  enforceable.

         24                 EPA's basic strategy is for the

         25  States to implement as much of the federal
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          2  underground storage tank program as possible. In the

          3  long term, EPA's resources will have the greatest

          4  impact when used to foster a state implementation,

          5  rather than conducting a federal program in each

          6  state.

          7                 To implement this strategy, EPA and

          8  the New York State Department of Environmental

          9  Conservation are leveraging their respective

         10  resources and have set forth roles and

         11  responsibilities to better implement the State and

         12  federal underground storage tank program.

         13                 In New York State, some of the

         14  responsibilities New York State Department of

         15  Environmental Conservation is responsible for

         16  include: handling of the registrations for the

         17  underground storage tanks and the notifications;

         18  responding to releases and conducting corrective

         19  action oversight activities, including both

         20  responsible party and State lead clean ups; and

         21  receiving notifications of changes in service,

         22  temporary and permanent closure and site assessment

         23  reports.

         24                 The New York State Department of

         25  Environmental Conservation also conducts compliance
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          2  and enforcement activities for areas where the State

          3  has jurisdiction.

          4                 The New York State Department of

          5  Environmental Conservation refers cases to EPA for

          6  enforcement action for all federal underground

          7  storage tank violations that are not covered by New

          8  York State law.

          9                 New York State Department of

         10  Environmental Conservation and EPA work together in

         11  many issues, such as remediation technologies,

         12  expedited enforcement methods and regulated

         13  community outreach.

         14                 EPA has worked with local government

         15  entities, such as the New York City Fire Department,

         16  to conduct outreach to assist underground storage

         17  tank owners in dealing with the sometimes confusing

         18  aspects of three levels of government that regulate

         19  underground storage tanks in New York City.

         20                 EPA has also worked with the New York

         21  State Department of Environmental Conservation and

         22  the New York City Fire Department to develop new

         23  Fire Department and New York State underground

         24  storage tank regulations.

         25                 EPA has conducted a number of major
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          2  enforcement cases in New York City, including among

          3  others, filing civil lawsuits against such companies

          4  as Gaseteria, Northland, 1833 Nostrand Avenue

          5  Corporation and the Route 109 Service Station

          6  Corporation for release detection and closure

          7  violations. These four companies and their related

          8  entities own or operate over 200 facilities in the

          9  New York City area.

         10                 EPA estimates that the overall

         11  compliance rate in New York City with the 1998

         12  upgrade requirements is 85 percent for all

         13  underground storage tanks, active and closed, and

         14  only 60 percent for just active underground storage

         15  tanks.

         16                 An estimated 3,300 active underground

         17  storage tanks in New York City are not in compliance

         18  with the EPA requirements. Given the large number of

         19  facilities that are not in compliance, EPA will

         20  continue to assist underground storage tank owners

         21  and operators in their compliance assistance efforts

         22  by providing compliance assistance information.

         23                 Underground storage tank owners and

         24  operators may also contact the Small Business

         25  Administration for information on financial
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          2  assistance to upgrade, replace or close their

          3  underground storage tanks. EPA still encourages

          4  underground storage tank owners and operators not in

          5  compliance to disclose their violations to EPA and

          6  correct their violations to receive a reduced

          7  penalty.

          8                 Unless an underground storage tank

          9  presents an endangerment to public health and the

         10  environment, small businesses and local government

         11  facilities will remain a low priority for

         12  enforcement with the 1998 upgrade requirements until

         13  June of this year.

         14                 As to the 1998 upgrade deadline

         15  enforcement, PEA has received about 100 self

         16  disclosures from New York City-based facilities,

         17  including one self disclosure from New York City

         18  itself for an estimated 614 underground storage

         19  tanks located at a variety of facilities including

         20  police and fire stations and Sanitation Department

         21  facilities.

         22                 EPA will be working with the City to

         23  correct these violations. As to enforcement for

         24  violators of the December 22nd, 1998 deadline, EPA

         25  staff have already begun conducting compliance
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          2  inspections in New York City.

          3                 Let me assure you that EPA will

          4  continue to work in good faith with the City and the

          5  New York State Department of Environmental

          6  Conservation to protect human health and the

          7  environment.

          8                 As a long-time resident of Queens, I

          9  have seen the City's environment improve

         10  substantially over the past 20 or so years and I am

         11  confident that this trend will continue.

         12                 Thank you once again for this

         13  opportunity to testify before your Committee, and my

         14  colleagues and I welcome any questions that you may

         15  have.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Pavlou.

         17                 MR. PAVLOU: Yes. It is Greek, by the

         18  way.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I would have

         20  guessed. Thank you very much. Thank you for your

         21  testimony, and I am very pleased that you are all

         22  here. But I am very disturbed, and I am very

         23  grateful for my colleagues for bringing this area to

         24  our attention. As you know, we have quite a number

         25  of other problems which are extremely important

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            21

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  problems, and this is something that I really wasn't

          3  aware of to the extent I should have been. So, I

          4  admit being not as sensitive to the issue.

          5                 By the way, we are joined by Helen

          6  Marshall, Council Member Helen Marshall from Queens

          7  is here, who is conducting a hearing in the other

          8  room, but from time to time they wander in and out.

          9                 It seems to me that we are in a lot

         10  of trouble, and that even though there has been a

         11  ten-year warning with respect to this legislation,

         12  and then the great need for this legislation, we are

         13  still playing catch-up, and that there really has

         14  not been compliance and there is a lot to do, and

         15  you certainly don't have the resources to do it, to

         16  make sure that everybody in this state, let alone

         17  this City, is in compliance with the very important

         18  regulations, because there is a real reason for

         19  them, as you've explained. How can you possibly do

         20  the job with eight inspectors for the entire region?

         21  The answer is you can't, right?

         22                 MR. PAVLOU: From the beginning, you

         23  know, EPA recognized that the best way to manage

         24  this program was to rely on states and local

         25  governments to implement it, and that is where our
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          2  priority and our efforts, you know, have focused.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How many states

          4  have you reached agreements with?

          5                 MR. PAVLOU: Twenty-seven so far, but

          6  it is my understanding that only three states in the

          7  union have yet to have regulations consistent with

          8  EPA, those being Idaho, Hawaii and New York State.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So we are in

         10  very rare company, aren't we?

         11                 MR. PAVLOU: Let me --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What reason --

         13  why is the State not in compliance? What reason for

         14  that?

         15                 MR. PAVLOU: There have been efforts

         16  in the past, in the past, to develop legislation in

         17  New York State under a bill called the Omnibus Bulk

         18  Storage Bill, dating back to five years ago. There

         19  have been numerous efforts to pass the legislation

         20  to upgrade the regulations of New York State to make

         21  them consistent or at least as stringent as EPAs,

         22  but that legislation, for some reason or another,

         23  was never passed, and that is why --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: When was it

         25  first introduced?
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          2                 MR. PAVLOU: I believe in 1989 or so,

          3  I believe. I am just speculating.

          4                 MR. BERNSTEIN: The bill has existed

          5  in various forms from 1989 to the present. The last

          6  form was drafted but not submitted in 1996.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So, since 1996

          8  we don't even have an intro in Albany and pending in

          9  the State Legislature to conform to the State law?

         10                 MR. BERNSTEIN: No.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Federal law, I

         12  am sorry. The State law to conform to the federal

         13  law.

         14                 MR. PAVLOU: The State of New York

         15  does have an effective underground storage tank

         16  program.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The state, but

         18  not in compliance and not as stringent as the

         19  federal law.

         20                 MR. PAVLOU: That is an accurate

         21  statement.

         22                 And the best thing we can do at this

         23  point in time is to, as I mentioned before, to

         24  leverage the resources that EPA has with the New

         25  York State, you know, staff at the New York State
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          2  Department of Environmental Conservation, and focus

          3  our efforts in areas of high priorities; namely, in

          4  areas such as sensitive aquifer systems (phonetic)

          5  where drinking water or wetlands or areas that are

          6  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: To protect our

          8  watershed.

          9                 MR. PAVLOU: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Which we have

         11  got an awful lot of money invested, and if we don't

         12  get your approval in Year 2005, we have spent $8

         13  billion for our water. We are fully aware of that,

         14  that's why it is important for the State to do what

         15  has to be done here, among other things, there are

         16  many other things that have to be done.

         17                 Let me just say this to you.

         18                 MR. PAVLOU: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We did notify

         20  some time ago to ask the State to be here and they,

         21  as I understand it, they are not presenting a

         22  witness to this hearing. So, I must apologize to you

         23  to ask you questions with respect to things that the

         24  State should be here to answer.

         25                 Is there anybody from the State here?
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          2  Is there anybody here from DEC?

          3                 No. That says a lot. So there is

          4  demonstrative evidence of the fact that an important

          5  issue like this and we have asked them to be here,

          6  we have asked them to submit testimony, and we

          7  haven't even gotten that. So I must ask you

          8  questions about your relationship, since this is not

          9  a court of law, you can answer the questions and you

         10  don't have to worry about the hearsay rule.

         11                 Have you had some conversations with

         12  the State DEC about what their intentions are with

         13  respect to complying with the federal law?

         14                 MR. POVLOU: Well, we are going to

         15  continue to work with them and encourage them to

         16  pass that legislation.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is not what

         18  I asked you, sir. I asked you, have you had

         19  conversations with them as to whether or not what

         20  their intentions are? Because we are being told

         21  right now, since '96 they haven't introduced

         22  legislation to be in conformance.

         23                 MR. POVLOU: We have had discussions

         24  with them.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Good what did
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          2  they tell you?

          3                 MR. POVLOU: A new bill was drafted

          4  but it has not yet submitted to the legislature.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: When was this

          6  conversation?

          7                 MR. POVLOU: Do you know when?

          8                 MR. BERNSTEIN: We have had numerous

          9  conversations over this issue for the past ten

         10  years, including.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: When was the

         12  last one?

         13                 MR. BERNSTEIN: The last one I had I

         14  think was probably around 1995, 1996, where the

         15  state did make a statement --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: This is 1999,

         17  right?

         18                 MR. BERNSTEIN: I am sure of that, I

         19  know that. I am only telling it as it is.

         20                 MR. POVLOU: We have had conversations

         21  about this as late as about two, three months ago,

         22  regarding the deadline and the --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am not looking

         24  to point fingers, I am trying to raise the

         25  sensitivity to get them to comply with the law. What
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          2  have they told you about introducing legislation? I

          3  mean, it is really terrible to find out they haven't

          4  even drafted a law to introduce to the State

          5  Legislature. What have they told you about when they

          6  are going to do it?

          7                 MR. POVLOU: I am sorry, I cannot

          8  speak for the state.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am only asking

         10  you to speak for yourself and tell me what they told

         11  you or anyone else sitting at the table as to what

         12  they are going to do in an effort to try to help us

         13  alleviate which may as a potential be a very

         14  dangerous problem, which is the reason why we are

         15  having this hearing, by the way. We are not having a

         16  hearing just for the sake of having a hearing. We

         17  are here because we see there is a problem here.

         18                 MR. POVLOU: All I can say is that we

         19  have had those conversations with the need for the

         20  state to pass the legislation, you know, with the

         21  Department of Environmental Conservation. That is

         22  all I can say.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They haven't

         24  given you any --

         25                 MR. POVLOU: I am not trying to be
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          2  difficult, that is all I can say.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: No. Don't think

          4  I am asking questions and I am being critical of

          5  you. I know you are trying to cooperate as much as

          6  possible, and we are very pleased about that. But I

          7  was just trying to elicit from you as to whether or

          8  not you have got some sort of a time frame as to

          9  when they are going to introduce this intro or this

         10  draft legislation?

         11                 MR. POVLOU: We do not have a time

         12  frame, sir. They haven't presented us with a time

         13  frame within which they can introduce that

         14  legislation.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So you have no

         16  reason even to believe it is going to be in the

         17  foreseeable future? That answer is no.

         18                 MR. POVLOU: I cannot speculate one

         19  way or the other.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, fine.

         21                 Mr. Sabini.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 I have a number of questions. I want

         25  to sort of start out with getting the numbers
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          2  straight because your testimony doesn't jive with

          3  some of the other numbers we have done.

          4                 In your written submission you said

          5  EPA estimates that the overall compliance rate in

          6  New York City with the 1998 upgrade requirements is

          7  85 percent for all active and closed underground

          8  storage tanks and 60 percent for just active

          9  underground storage tanks.

         10                 MR. POVLOU: Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Yet, an

         12  article in Crains New York Business, from December

         13  '98, with they chart listing as the source EPA has

         14  a compliance rate around 30 something.

         15                 MR. POVLOU: I will let John Kushwara

         16  respond to that.

         17                 MR. KUSHWARA: Sure.

         18                 The numbers that we are providing in

         19  the testimony are the numbers up-to-date as of now,

         20  based on all of the available information that we

         21  have been provided with on the status of compliance.

         22  Any numbers reported previously in the press I would

         23  suggest that you disregard.

         24                 The numbers that we are presenting to

         25  you today is a true picture.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But this is

          3  from your agency.

          4                 MR. KUSHWARA: That's correct, but

          5  those are older numbers based upon limited data that

          6  we had back in the fall. This is an accurate

          7  representation of where things are today.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: So, you are

          9  telling me that -- how many inspections have you

         10  done in the last two months that made these numbers

         11  move dramatically?

         12                 MR. KUSHWARA: The numbers are not

         13  based upon inspection, the numbers are based upon

         14  information that owners and operators have reported

         15  in terms of their getting their certification from

         16  New York State. So, this is actual verified data as

         17  to what people have done in terms of installing

         18  upgraded, replacing or in fact closing tanks. And

         19  many, many facilities closed in December rather than

         20  operate in violation past the deadline.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right.

         22                 MR. KUSHWARA: You need to understand

         23  that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Is this based

         25  upon self-certification?
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          2                 MR. KUSHWARA: But the

          3  self-certification needs to include, for example,

          4  contracts and plans and specifications that show the

          5  work has been completed, we don't take just a letter

          6  saying that you have done the work.

          7                 And in many cases they are verified

          8  in the field.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. Again,

         10  the numbers sort of lost me.

         11                 MR. KUSHWARA: I'm sorry.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Let me just

         13  outline the total tank number, which doesn't change

         14  I assume, that your agency reported November 30th,

         15  was 8,995 in the City of New York. Yet, in your

         16  testimony you say that 3,300, this is Mr. Pavlou,

         17  3,300 underground storage tanks in New York City are

         18  not in compliance. Well, if 3,300 are not in

         19  compliance in 9,000, that would bring the number

         20  around 30 percent again, not 15 percent, as you

         21  testify the sentence before. So something is not

         22  right.

         23                 MR. KUSHWARA: There are 8,560 active

         24  tanks, okay? In December or November, whenever that

         25  article ran, there were approximately 8,900, meaning
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          2  that we had information that 400 tanks closed during

          3  that period of time.

          4                 Of the 8,500, there are approximately

          5  3,300 which we don't have information that leads us

          6  to believe they have complied yet. That is

          7  approximately a 60 percent compliance rate.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Where do you

          9  get the 85 percent then?

         10                 MR. KUSHWARA: Take 3,300 and divide

         11  by 8,500, that is about 60 percent.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Where do you

         13  get the 85 percent then?

         14                 MR. KUSHWARA: The 85 percent goes

         15  back to the beginning of the program, when we

         16  started in 1988 there were over 2 million tanks

         17  regulated nationally. The requirement was by

         18  December of 1998, two months ago --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: That includes

         20  the closed tanks, they may not even be there

         21  anymore.

         22                 MR. KUSHWARA: Right. Replaced them,

         23  upgrade them or close them.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

         25                 MR. KUSHWARA: Over a million tanks
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          2  have closed during that period of time.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay, so that

          4  is a nice number, but we have to worry right now

          5  about the tanks that are leaking.

          6                 MR. KUSHWARA: I absolutely agree with

          7  you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. That is

          9  now, we are now on the agreement that we have about

         10  40 percent of the tanks in the City of New York are

         11  leaking?

         12                 MR. KUSHWARA: No. This does not mean

         13  that they are leaking. It means that they haven't

         14  been upgraded to meet the standards.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: They may be

         16  leaking, and if they were leaking, it's probably a

         17  good bet that the ownership would let you know.

         18                 MR. KUSHWARA: They are obligated to

         19  tell us of a release.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

         21                 Now, with regard to the City of New

         22  York, which has the most underground storage tanks

         23  in question, Mr. Kushwara, you are in receipt of a

         24  letter from the Law Department dated February 11th.

         25                 MR. KUSHWARA: That's correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. Now,

          3  that letter was precipitated by I believe a deadline

          4  of February 12th, right? You were supposed to have

          5  record from the City as to what the status of its

          6  tanks were.

          7                 Now, in that letter, in less popular

          8  company I would view this letter as sort of a punt

          9  that it says, yes, we have got some tanks and there

         10  are some problems and we are looking at them, did

         11  this letter answer your requirements of the 12th?

         12                 MR. KUSHWARA: What we asked the City

         13  to do was to identify to us as quickly as possible

         14  and we established a deadline of February 12th as

         15  many of their tanks as they could that were not

         16  upgraded.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right.

         18                 MR. KUSHWARA: At this point in time

         19  we now need to go back, discuss with the City the

         20  status of every one of these tanks and any other

         21  tanks they have identified since, and we need to go

         22  over their release detection data first off to make

         23  sure that none of these tanks are leaking.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: So they really

         25  didn't give you the answer they were supposed to
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          2  give you by the 12th of February, did they?

          3                 MR. KUSHWARA: No, by the 12th I asked

          4  them to give me the universe of tanks.

          5                 Now, if you want to play with the

          6  language that is in here, that's okay. As far as I

          7  am concerned, they have come to me and they have

          8  told me we have a problem, we need to work with you

          9  and we are willing to work with them. It doesn't

         10  mean that they don't have a problem here that has to

         11  be dealt with, it doesn't mean that they are getting

         12  off scott-free, it doesn't mean that there is not

         13  going to be some type of enforcement, but it is

         14  easier for us to work with someone who

         15  self-disclosed the violation than for us to go out

         16  and conduct 1,000 inspections in the City of New

         17  York to try to identify every --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: My

         19  recollection as a congressional staff member who

         20  worked for a chairman of the Subcommittee on the

         21  Environment was that RCRA passed in 1984, that was

         22  15 years ago, the regulations were promulgated in

         23  1988, that was 11 years ago, and on February 11th

         24  the City comes to you with a letter and says yeah we

         25  think we got a problem and you think that's okay? I
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          2  know it is nice that they admit they have a problem

          3  but --

          4                 MR. KUSHWARA: They self-disclosed a

          5  violation, I think it is good that they

          6  self-disclosed a violation, that we didn't have to

          7  expend a humungus amount of resources tracking it

          8  down.

          9                 I do agree with you that the number

         10  of tanks out of compliance is a serious problem.

         11                 MR. PAVLOU: But they have been in a

         12  better planning in the City of New York to upgrade

         13  these tanks and make them in compliance, to be in

         14  compliance with the federal regulations.

         15                 At this point in time let me say one

         16  more thing, that under our present policy, even

         17  though the deadline for upgrading these tanks was

         18  December 22nd, 1998, the present policy of EPA, as I

         19  said in my testimony is that we are going to be

         20  concentrating on high priority areas that could deal

         21  or could effect sensitive ecosystems, and we are not

         22  going to be concentrating our efforts until after

         23  June of this year for state and local governments in

         24  terms of their need to upgrade their systems.

         25                 So, in that regard, you know, New
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          2  York City was operating in good faith to at least

          3  identify those tanks that they would need to

          4  upgrade.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But in RCRA

          6  and the regulations that were promulgated as a

          7  result of RCRA, there were lots of soft spots for

          8  localities to comply, that we didn't want to rush

          9  people into anything that was going to cost the

         10  taxpayers lots of money, and yet now we are saying

         11  that the soft spots have gotten even softer and one

         12  wonders at what point does the threat of action come

         13  down.

         14                 Mr. Pavlou, let me ask you, three

         15  states are not in the sort of full self-certifying

         16  business, New York, Hawaii and Idaho, do you get

         17  more inspectors for underground storage tanks

         18  because of the fact that your region is largely New

         19  York and therefore one of the few places in the

         20  country that doesn't have self-certification? Do you

         21  get more inspectors because of that?

         22                 MR. PAVLOU: Not necessarily, no.

         23  Again, the premise was that this program should have

         24  been managed by the states. Our resources --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But you know
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          2  it's not.

          3                 MR. PAVLOU: The answer is no. No, we

          4  are not getting extra resources, because one of our

          5  states is not having equivalent regulations in CPA

          6  and we have to enforce, we have to have the primary

          7  enforcement responsibility there.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Well, it just

          9  seems to me that if EPA were serious national, on a

         10  national level about this, that they would beef up

         11  compliance and enforcement in areas where they know

         12  that there are at risk, that the state is not going

         13  to do the full job and indeed a heavily populated

         14  area like New York and New Jersey which are in

         15  Region 2 that you have problems like this.

         16                 MR. PAVLOU: You are right, and we

         17  have dealt with it on a managerial basis by

         18  reassigning resources within the Division, you know,

         19  not necessarily from the underground storage program

         20  account to deal with that.

         21                 That is why we have the number of

         22  people we have to deal with the enforcement actions

         23  in New York State.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Lastly, I want

         25  to give my colleagues an opportunity, and the Chair
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          2  as well.

          3                 Mr. Kushwara, we have underground

          4  storage tanks in Eastern Queens, and Council Member

          5  Spigner's district, Council Member Leffler's

          6  district, and they are part of the old Jamaica Water

          7  Supply system, based on the list of tanks that the

          8  Committee staff has obtained that the City of New

          9  York owns, we have underground storage tanks in the

         10  watershed area upstate in water that the rest of New

         11  Yorkers drink. Is there any reason to believe that

         12  these tanks have the possibility of now or in the

         13  near future leaching into the drinking water?

         14                 MR. KUSHWARA: There is always that

         15  possibility.

         16                 It could happen even with a fully

         17  upgraded tank. A fill pipe could come loose during

         18  delivery from a tanker truck, there is always a

         19  possibility. The regulations were designed to ensure

         20  that to the maximum extent possible an upgraded

         21  system would have a greater degree of reliability.

         22                 Until these tanks are upgraded, they

         23  do remain a threat to drinking water supply.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Are your

         25  prioritizing the ones that are in groundwater and
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          2  watershed areas to be remediated first or inspected

          3  first?

          4                 MR. KUSHWARA: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chairman.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Are you

          8  assessing the risk, the risk factor, especially in

          9  the watershed areas?

         10                 MR. KUSHWARA: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Let me ask you

         12  this: What is the incentive for the state to comply

         13  with the law? And then to take over the regulation

         14  instead of the EPA; what is in the law as the

         15  incentive for them to do it?

         16                 MR. PAVLOU: I do not think that there

         17  is any incentive in the federal legislation --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: There must be

         19  some incentive.

         20                 MR. PAVLOU: Other than the fact that

         21  it is the law, that the industry, as well as local

         22  governments have to comply with these regulations.

         23  Other than that it is I guess the -- you know, the

         24  state can exercise the option of whether or not they

         25  want to be authorized or approved by EPA to run the
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          2  program by us.

          3                 We do have limited, you know, grants

          4  that we do provide the State of New York to, you

          5  know, manage the program under the liquid

          6  underground storage tank program.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Aren't there

          8  also programs to help small businesses to get

          9  monies, low interest monies in order to comply with

         10  the law?

         11                 MR. PAVLOU: Under the federal

         12  government, yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The state, is

         14  that available to people living in the state, which

         15  is not being regulated by the state?

         16                 MR. PAVLOU: Yes. It is available to

         17  everybody who wants to use the financial

         18  opportunities provided by the U.S. government, to

         19  either replace their tanks, temporarily shut them

         20  down, or upgrade them to the standards that are

         21  needed.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: This may be a

         23  defect in the law, because after all the state

         24  doesn't appear to be even thinking about compliance,

         25  maybe thinking about it is about all, and they are
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          2  not being harmed in any way, they are not being

          3  affected in any way; what is there to say we should

          4  comply with this law? They are saving a lot of money

          5  on enforcement, they don't have to comply with the

          6  state's incentives. The state does not have to

          7  comply with the federal more stringent regulations.

          8  I am trying to think of why should the state go

          9  ahead and have to expend the money to regulate this

         10  thing and comply with the federal law?

         11                 MR. PAVLOU: It is their option

         12  whether or not they want to make their regulations

         13  as stringent as EPA's and whether or not they want

         14  to expend those resources, we cannot force the

         15  states to upgrade those regulations.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: As I understand

         17  it, under this law people owning underground storage

         18  tanks have to comply with federal law. They have to

         19  comply with federal law, it is just a question of

         20  who is going to regulate it, whether it is going to

         21  be the state or the feds. We also have state

         22  regulations which aren't as stringent. But they

         23  can't say look, I complied with state regulations,

         24  therefore I am all right. That's not true, right?

         25  They have to -- if they are within the category of
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          2  the federal law then they have to comply with the

          3  federal law.

          4                 MR. PAVLOU: The owners of those tanks

          5  have to comply with the law.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Right, that is

          7  what I am talking about.

          8                 MR. PAVLOU: Whether or not the state

          9  chooses to manage that legislation is a different --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And they have

         11  more resources to manage it with than you do. You

         12  only have eight for the entire region.

         13                 MR. PAVLOU: We have less resources.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you have any

         15  idea of the resources that DEC has to regulate this?

         16                 MR. PAVLOU: Not really, I don't have

         17  that kind of information.

         18                 I know that they operate on a

         19  decentralized basis because of the various regions

         20  they have in New York State, but I do not really

         21  know how many people they have in each region.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But it certainly

         23  it is a lot more than you, it is more than eight,

         24  right?

         25                 MR. PAVLOU: I would suspect, yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Probably a

          3  couple of hundred for that matter.

          4                 MR. PAVLOU: I wouldn't know if it is

          5  a couple of hundred.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I don't know,

          7  there is nobody here from the state for me to ask.

          8  But I am just speculating, but it is certainly more

          9  than eight.

         10                 And is there any penalty for the

         11  state not to fall in line with the other states?

         12                 MR. KUSHWARA: There is not a penalty

         13  associated with it, but a state that becomes

         14  authorized would get additional grant monies from

         15  EPA to run the program.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How much?

         17                 MR. KUSHWARA:  A few hundred thousand

         18  more.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: A few hundred

         20  thousand more.

         21                 MR. KUSHWARA: A few hundred thousand

         22  more than they would normally get.

         23                 We do give New York State money now

         24  to do some of the work that we have scoped out in

         25  our cooperative agreement such as the inspection
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          2  activity, such as responding to releases, such as

          3  handling the notifications.

          4                 The real incentive is more for the

          5  regulated community. It is for industry. If you had

          6  an authorized state, it would only be the state

          7  regulations in place because it would be as

          8  stringent as the federal government's, and the

          9  regulated entities only have one set of standards to

         10  worry about --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Now they got

         12  two.

         13                 MR. KUSHWARA: Actually in New York

         14  City you have three.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Three.

         16                 MR. KUSHWARA: You have Fire

         17  Department regulations as well.

         18                 So, it is beneficial for industry, it

         19  is beneficial for the economy, for one set of

         20  regulations to be in place and for people to know

         21  when they need an answer they go to one agency, as

         22  opposed to now having to deal with three.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It seems to me,

         24  and I alluded to it before, I think Mr. Sabini also

         25  alluded to it, we could be the big losers here. The
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          2  State doesn't do anything that they should be doing,

          3  and if we find that their failure to act in some way

          4  is contaminating our water supply, we are going to

          5  have to spend $8 billion for a filtration plant,

          6  plus $600 million a year to run that filtration

          7  plant. So we could be the real big loser here.

          8                 MR. PAVLOU: You are right in that

          9  regard. And once the release takes place into the

         10  environment, if it does contaminate the groundwater,

         11  it is a drinking water source, if it does

         12  contaminate surface waters, it can take, especially

         13  for groundwater, a decade to bring it down to the

         14  levels that would be suitable for drinking water.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I just want to

         16  underline that for people who are here who are from

         17  DEP, and I know we have some people from DEP, to

         18  understand that.

         19                 MR. PAVLOU: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And that is why

         21  it is important for us to bring all the pressure,

         22  including the City Administration's pressure on the

         23  state to go ahead and do this, whatever has to be

         24  done.

         25                 Let me ask you, what is the penalty
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          2  to owners for not complying with the federal

          3  regulations?

          4                 MR. PAVLOU: It all depends on the

          5  length of the violation, you know --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The range.

          7                 MR. PAVLOU: The long term, it is

          8  about $1,000 per violation.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Per violation,

         10  okay.

         11                 Mr. Leffler.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes, thank

         13  you.

         14                 Good afternoon.

         15                 My understanding is that we have a

         16  chart here setting forth 500 sites that were found

         17  to be polluted that were the subject of a consent

         18  order between the City and DEC in April of 1994; is

         19  that right?

         20                 MR. PAVLOU: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: What is being

         22  done to clean up those polluted sites?

         23                 MR. KUSHWARA: That is a consent order

         24  negotiated between the State of New York and the

         25  City of New York is not a party to that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Can you speaking

          3  into the microphone.

          4                 MR. KUSHWARA: I am sorry.

          5                 That is a consent order negotiated

          6  between the State of New York and the City of New

          7  York and we are not a party to that, we honestly

          8  cannot answer your question.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: You don't

         10  supervise a situation where there are hundreds and

         11  hundreds of sites where there --

         12                 MR. KUSHWARA: No, that is the State

         13  of New York's responsibility.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: In other

         15  words, you only deal with sites where there are

         16  existing underground storage tanks, but situations

         17  where there are no longer underground storage tanks

         18  but where there were and where they were

         19  knowledgeably polluting, you are no longer involved?

         20  It seems anomalous.

         21                 MR. KUSHWARA: Not knowing the details

         22  of that order --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes.

         24                 MR. KUSHWARA: If in fact what we are

         25  talking about is tanks that have been removed and
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          2  contamination was found, the State of New York would

          3  put the City of New York on a schedule to take care

          4  of removing soil, dealing with any groundwater

          5  contamination and removing any petroleum, what is

          6  referred to as free product on site in accordance

          7  with that schedule --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right.

          9                 MR. KUSHWARA: That would be the

         10  state's sole responsibility.

         11                 MR. PAVLOU: Again, don't forget, our

         12  regulations became effective December 22nd, 1998.

         13  Anything preceding that, unless there were

         14  violations of leaks -- I am sorry, detection-type,

         15  monitoring-type of violations, we couldn't have

         16  taken any action.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I am not

         18  blaming you for not taking action but it seems that

         19  it is clear that many of the sites reflect leaks,

         20  non-detection and problems which existed before the

         21  regulation.

         22                 MR. PAVLOU: Yes, up to that time the

         23  State of New York could have taken the

         24  responsibility of cleaning up any contamination in

         25  the soil or in the groundwater. The only way the
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          2  federal EPA could have been involved was through

          3  what we call the Superfund Legislation whereby if

          4  indeed contamination of soils was such that it could

          5  present a threat to humans, or if the contamination

          6  was such that the groundwater or the drinking water

          7  was contaminated and it reached people's wells, we

          8  could have intervened on an emergency basis to

          9  remove those soils, as well as provide drinking

         10  water to those impacted.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right. And

         12  that in fact has been the case.

         13                 I mean, for example, I have grown up

         14  in and continue to represent people living in the

         15  Jamaica Water Supply area, you know, people there

         16  have largely drunk well water for generations.

         17                 MR. PAVLOU: Right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: So, why have

         19  you not intervened knowing that there is a consent

         20  order with respect to 500 polluted sites. Are you

         21  confident that the state is adequately remediating

         22  the problems that have existed for a long time?

         23                 MR. PAVLOU: Well, in addition to

         24  that, to our knowledge, there is the safe drinking

         25  water act that would essentially safeguard the
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          2  quality of the water provided by the Jamaica

          3  production wells.

          4                 To my knowledge, I believe that those

          5  wells were in compliance, and if they were not in

          6  compliance, then they would have to adhere to the

          7  EPA regulations, as well as to the New York State

          8  Department of Health regulations governing the

          9  quality of the drinking water.

         10                 And the City of New York or the

         11  owners of the Jamaica production wells would report

         12  and they are required by the Safe Drinking Water Act

         13  to report the quality of the drinking water to New

         14  York State Department of Health.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: No, I know

         16  that.

         17                 MR. PAVLOU: You say to your knowledge

         18  there is compliance with the Safe Drinking Water

         19  Act, I mean to my knowledge there is compliance

         20  also, but I am not so sure that I have all the

         21  knowledge and I am not so sure you have all the

         22  knowledge.

         23                 I mean, if we know that there are

         24  hundreds and hundreds of polluted sites, I mean I

         25  remember for years, particularly as a child, you
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          2  know, seeing storage tanks as I drove along

          3  highways, going to gas stations and knowing

          4  periodically the gas stations would not be serving

          5  gasoline because there were problems with leaks and

          6  the like.

          7                 So, while I don't know that there is

          8  a problem under the Safe Drinking Water Act, I

          9  highly suspect that there are problems with polluted

         10  sites where there has been leakage of gasoline for

         11  decades.

         12                 Why doesn't the EPA look into this?

         13                 MR. PAVLOU: We do. I mean, we do

         14  cooperate and work with the Department of Health of

         15  New York State to make sure that whatever drinking

         16  water is supplied to the residents of New York State

         17  is of clean and good quality.

         18                 At the same time, we upgraded our

         19  regulations to require owners and operators of

         20  drinking water utilities to inform their customers

         21  on a regular basis in terms of the types of

         22  contaminants that they are finding in their drinking

         23  water.

         24                 I believe those regulations took

         25  effect last year.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: But it seems

          3  to me what you are doing is proceeding at one end of

          4  the problem.

          5                 MR. PAVLOU: Right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: That is, you

          7  are looking in and you have no reason to think that

          8  there are, based on testing I assume and the like,

          9  problems with the drinking water.

         10                 But nevertheless, you know that there

         11  are at least 500 polluted sites, and from what I

         12  understand there is no certainty that any of these

         13  sites are being remediated; is that right?

         14                 MR. PAVLOU: Well, I have no knowledge

         15  to that effect. All I can say right now is that

         16  since our regulations took effect last December,

         17  that we are going to be very vigilant and, you know,

         18  follow up on those sites to make sure that whatever

         19  the State of New York does, does comply with the

         20  stringent requirements of EPA.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Well, what

         22  are they doing? What is the State doing?

         23                 I mean, for example, I mean when I

         24  chaired this Committee back in the 1980s, the people

         25  I would have the least confidence would remediate a
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          2  lot of problems with the City and the State.

          3                 I remember having a staffer, who I

          4  highly respected and respect to this day, and has a

          5  significant doctoral position, you know, he is now a

          6  doctor of environment and, you know, with a good

          7  environmental organization, literally left the City

          8  job out of lack of confidence that there was

          9  adequate City supervision of remediation of polluted

         10  sites. So, why should I now ten years later,

         11  actually it is about 13 years later, have confidence

         12  that the City and State are remediating

         13  acknowledgedly formerly polluted sites?

         14                 MR. PAVLOU: I cannot answer that

         15  because I really don't know, you know, as John said,

         16  what is in that consent order between the City and

         17  the State.

         18                 All I can assure you is that, you

         19  know, hence forth EPA would be more than vigilant to

         20  exercise its regulations to make sure that whatever

         21  the state does is consistent with our regulations.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: But that is

         23  with respect to sites which now have underground

         24  storage tanks, right?

         25                 MR. PAVLOU: Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: But I am

          3  talking about those which are the subject of an

          4  order where we know that there were underground

          5  storage tanks in the past which we know are polluted

          6  before your regulation. Those you are not going to

          7  be looking at, you are relying on the City and State

          8  consent order, right?

          9                 MR. PAVLOU: You mean for those 500?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes.

         11                 MR. PAVLOU: That's correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Why should we

         13  have confidence that the City and State are

         14  adequately remediating these 500 sites?

         15                 MR. BERNSTEIN: Let me just help out,

         16  because I have been in the program actually here the

         17  longest. I have been overseeing the New York State

         18  program --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Mr.

         20  Bernstein?

         21                 MR. BERNSTEIN: Mr. Bernstein. -- For

         22  ten years now.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Okay.

         24                 MR. BERNSTEIN: And our main goal has

         25  been since when we came into this program, New York
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          2  State already had a spill response program, I worked

          3  closely with their engineers, the people that go out

          4  into the field and oversee this, and they are all

          5  across the state, we have 120 I think total staff in

          6  New York State, that was the last number I saw. But

          7  what we do is, we can't send me out, there is about

          8  10,000 reported releases in New York State a year,

          9  that is something we could not possibly handle. But

         10  in our agreement with New York State, they have been

         11  doing that for years before we ever had any program

         12  in 1988 and they agreed to keep doing it, meeting

         13  both state and federal requirements.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: This is

         15  checking current releases where there are releases

         16  now; is that right?

         17                 MR. BERNSTEIN: Current releases going

         18  back actually ten years or so that we have been

         19  overseeing what the State does.

         20                 In terms of what I do is the State

         21  goes out and they respond, I assist them with

         22  education, outreach, if there is training they need,

         23  we supply training. If there is positions they need

         24  funded, we fund positions. But that is our extent in

         25  terms of --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: So, what do

          3  you conclude, how are they remediating the polluted

          4  sites that were the subject of that 1994 consent

          5  order?

          6                 MR. BERNSTEIN: Like I say, I can't

          7  give you an answer to that consent order because I

          8  have never reviewed the file. Overall I think they

          9  are doing an excellent job across the state.

         10  Overall. They are, of course, overworked, they don't

         11  have the resources they need either, they can better

         12  address that than me. But with the resources they

         13  have they do a phenomenal job.

         14                 Like I say --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: There is a

         16  lot of heavy freight on the words with the resources

         17  they have.

         18                 MR. BERNSTEIN: I think we could all

         19  admit that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I mean, I

         21  think the average person who is drinking Jamaica

         22  Water Supply water and thinks to himself or herself,

         23  well, my kids are drinking this water, but with the

         24  resources that the State has they are doing an

         25  adequate job.
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          2                 MR. BERNSTEIN: Well, let me complete.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I mean, my

          4  kids may be polluted and corroded for life, but, you

          5  know, with the resources they have, they are doing a

          6  good job.

          7                 MR. BERNSTEIN: Well, first of all, if

          8  you ask any bureaucrat if he has enough resources he

          9  will say no.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right.

         11                 MR. BERNSTEIN: I will say I have not

         12  enough resources, they will, but what they do in New

         13  York State is they have a prioritization program.

         14  When they had the spill they don't react to all

         15  spills alike. If there is a spill in the middle of

         16  Manhattan, actually there is a spill in the middle

         17  of Bohonk, New York, surrounded by nothing,

         18  threatening nothing, it's a low priority spill. A

         19  spill in the Eastern part of Queens where there is

         20  water supply is a high priority spill, and that is

         21  where they will focus most of their attention.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How about

         23  Newtown Creek, is that a high priority spill?

         24                 MR. BERNSTEIN: I don't know anybody

         25  who has gone drinking or swimming in Newtown Creek
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          2  recently.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Probably the

          4  biggest spill, the Exxon Valdez, one of the biggest

          5  spills in the world.

          6                 MR. BERNSTEIN: I am quite familiar

          7  with that spill, but they addressed their spill as

          8  who is drinking the water, and although we feel

          9  every spill should be cleaned up, their resources on

         10  those 400, 500 sites that he is referring to --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Including

         12  anybody who is drinking East River water --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Let him

         14  finish.

         15                 MR. BERNSTEIN: I am quite sure that

         16  they are addressing the sites that are in the areas

         17  that most affect the water we drink, and those are

         18  the high priority sites and that is a standard

         19  policy they have.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Second if we

         21  bathe in it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: And when you

         23  say you are confident they are addressing it, are

         24  you confident that they have been remediated, all of

         25  the pollution at those sites, or the pollution at
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          2  those sites?

          3                 When you say that you are confident

          4  they are addressing it, I am sure, you know, there

          5  is addressing it and there is addressing it. There

          6  is taking care of the problem and there is

          7  addressing it. What are you telling me?

          8                 MR. PAVLOU: Let me answer that.

          9                 Dave said that he has been working on

         10  the underground storage tank program the longest

         11  than anybody. I have been in this job for about

         12  three months now, but let me tell you about some of

         13  my experiences with New York State in areas where I

         14  did work, which essentially was the remediation of

         15  hazardous waste sites.

         16                 I can assure you that any time the

         17  State of New York has undertaken any type of

         18  remediation, be it, you know, dealing with

         19  contaminated soils, contaminated ground with

         20  contaminated sediments, that they have, you know,

         21  met or exceeded EPA regulations. That if they were

         22  cleaning up a site that dealt with the contamination

         23  of underground storage tanks and soils, that they

         24  would remove those soils to levels that EPA would

         25  find acceptable such that the remaining
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          2  contamination that would be there would not even

          3  cause any groundwater contravention of whatever the

          4  standards for that groundwater was.

          5                 So, all I can tell you that, you

          6  know, in my dealings with the New York State staff

          7  of DEC, they are as proficient, as professional as

          8  the EPA staff.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is good to

         10  hear.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Shelly, let me

         13  ask this.

         14                 In other words, maybe you see there

         15  is no reason for them to have to comply with the

         16  federal regulations?

         17                 MR. PAVLOU: No, I am not saying that,

         18  sir.

         19                 All I am saying is that they have a

         20  very well established --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What aren't they

         22  doing, and that they should be doing --

         23                 MR. PAVLOU: All they need right now

         24  is the legislation.

         25                 All I am saying is that what they
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          2  would need is the legislation to allow them to

          3  operate their regulations to the standards of EPA.

          4                 Once they have those regulations in

          5  place, I have no doubts in my mind that the

          6  organization as an entity of New York State DEC

          7  would do a thorough and professional job.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So I guess it

          9  comes down to what is it in the federal regulations

         10  that is not in the state regulations that is so

         11  important that we have to get them to comply with

         12  the federal regulations?

         13                 MR. PAVLOU: Well, right now I can

         14  address the differences that they have.

         15                 One of them has to do with the volume

         16  of material that needs to be regulated.

         17                 Right now the New York State

         18  regulates facilities with greater than 1,100

         19  aggregate gallons of petroleum-based products.

         20                 The federal definition suggests

         21  anything that exceeds 110 gallons.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: One hundred and

         23  ten, right.

         24                 MR. PAVLOU: Right.

         25                 New York State has --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Let's stop for a

          3  second. That is a pretty big area, isn't it?

          4                 MR. POVLOU: That's correct, sir.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is a pretty

          6  big area, there are a lot of storage tanks that they

          7  don't even look at.

          8                 MR. POVLOU: That's correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is a really

         10  big area.

         11                 MR. POVLOU: And that is where EPA

         12  would have to step in and provide for the difference

         13  and the protection.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So that is a

         15  pretty dangerous situation.

         16                 Did you want to ask something on

         17  that, Shelly?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes.

         19                 Why don't we get a certification? Why

         20  don't you get a certification from say State DEC

         21  with respect to each of the acknowledgeably

         22  knowingly polluted sites, that in fact it is cleaned

         23  up, that there is no longer any residual petroleum

         24  product at the site? Why not be specific in other

         25  words?
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          2                 I mean, it seems to me what you are

          3  giving is generalities - well, I know based on my

          4  experience that DEC does at least as good a job as

          5  EPA; what does this mean?

          6                 MR. PAVLOU: It means that we had --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: What we want

          8  to know is that in fact each specific site on this

          9  list has been cleaned up, and that, it seems to me,

         10  you are not certifying and you are not even asking

         11  them to certify. Why don't you ask them to certify?

         12                 MR. PAVLOU: Like I said, you know, I

         13  am at a disadvantage in this with respect to the

         14  fact that I have never seen that list of sites that

         15  you mentioned. We weren't involved in the agreements

         16  or enforcement actions between the City and the

         17  State, so I am at a disadvantage to answer your

         18  question specifically.

         19                 All I can say is that we do have

         20  standards governing -- well, I shouldn't say

         21  standards, we have criteria governing to what is a

         22  clean soil that we would accept, we have those.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right.

         24                 MR. PAVLOU: New York State has those.

         25  And usually if we don't have them we would undertake
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          2  a risk assessment to determine what would be an

          3  acceptable level of an individual chemical to allow

          4  it to remain on the surface of a given soil, of a

          5  given ground, such that it wouldn't present an

          6  unacceptable risk to humans. And we usually go by

          7  they want additional cancer risk for carcinogenic

          8  substances over a million people, and for

          9  non-carcinogen we have our own indices that we have

         10  established and have agreed with the State of New

         11  York.

         12                 So, again --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Leffler, we

         14  have to go on from here.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes. But I

         16  think what you should know is, that there are people

         17  in the past, I don't know about today, I assume it

         18  is similar, in City DEP, in State DEC, who have been

         19  asked to certify based on just the sorts of

         20  standards that you refer to, that in fact given

         21  sites were cleaned up, and who basically left these

         22  jobs because of pressure and the like, that they

         23  didn't want to in fact be responsible for certifying

         24  that such standards were being met.

         25                 So, I mean, I know that there are
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          2  such standards and until I know that there is an

          3  adequate certification that I am confident is

          4  responsible that they are met --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Sheldon, you can

          6  get an answer to that and then we have other people

          7  who want to inquire.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER:-- I am not

          9  willing to say that I am sure they are met.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Are you

         11  finished?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Thank you.

         13                 MR. PAVLOU: We do sample after a

         14  given remediation to determine whether or not the

         15  remaining contamination in the soil is down to the

         16  standards or up to the standards that we establish.

         17                 We do have remediation sampling that

         18  we do do.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: What I am

         20  asking is, have you --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Sheldon, we have

         22  to move on.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Okay, but you

         24  haven't sampled any of these.

         25                 Why don't we give him this and let
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          2  him get back to us as to what has been done.

          3                 MR. PAVLOU: I would be more than

          4  happy to accept that.

          5                 You asked me about the differences

          6  between New York and EPA legislation.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Hold that

          8  thought, we have to move on.

          9                 Council Member Spigner.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chairman.

         12                 Mr. Pavlou, I was reading your

         13  statement and I am forced to ask the question here,

         14  as it says in 1984 congress responded to the dangers

         15  posed by leaking USTs by adding Subtitle I to the

         16  Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, et cetera,

         17  et cetera. All right, it says Subtitle I required

         18  EPA to develop a comprehensive regulatory program

         19  for USTs storing petroleum or certain hazardous

         20  substances, with the exemption of heating oil USTs

         21  which are excluded from federal regulations. Does

         22  that mean heating oil is not viewed as a threat to

         23  the environment?

         24                 MR. PAVLOU: Well, it is but then it

         25  became an issue of whether or not EPA was going to
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          2  regulate the average resident who may have a tank

          3  for heating purposes in excess of 110 gallons.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: And why not,

          5  sir?

          6                 MR. PAVLOU: Because Congress exempted

          7  that. It was by legislation.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: I must tell

          9  you that --

         10                 MR. PAVLOU: It is an extraordinary

         11  effort and, you know, I already admitted that this

         12  is a program that starves for, you know, resources,

         13  but if they were to add even more stringent

         14  requirements, we couldn't possibly regulate

         15  everybody including the average resident of New York

         16  City and New York State.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: A lot in -- I

         18  don't know if in Southeast Queens, perhaps

         19  throughout the state, I know personally residents

         20  that have underground fuel oil storage tanks, and I

         21  know friends who have had leaks in these tanks. And

         22  the only way that you know that there is a leak in

         23  this tank is that you, either if there has been an

         24  extremely cold winter or the thermometer has been

         25  too high, and after you and your wife fight that
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          2  out, and the oil is still going down, then by

          3  deduction you conclude one day, wow, maybe there is

          4  a leak in this tank, you know? And by that time

          5  1,100 gallons have gone into the aquifer.

          6                 And we have in Southeast Queens, we

          7  have got 520,000 residents using the water from the

          8  Jamaica aquifer, we had sandy soil and shallow water

          9  table. Of the 53 wells that service the Jamaica

         10  area, ten have been closed in response to volatile

         11  organic chemicals.

         12                 And another thing, the ground water

         13  level in our community is rising. In the last ten

         14  years it has gone up about ten feet, which increases

         15  the incidence of not only flooding, but also

         16  increases the possibility of the water table coming

         17  in contact with the contamination.

         18                 We have information that well over

         19  41,000 oil spills in Queens and the Long Island area

         20  in the last ten years, and whereas, we read enough

         21  information that half of New York State's people

         22  receive water from underground sources, well, 100

         23  percent of Queens, Southeast Queens, we get our

         24  water from underground sources.

         25                 So, we are particularly vulnerable
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          2  and that is what addressed, in addition to fighting

          3  to have the City take over and incorporate the

          4  municipal water, Jamaica water and the municipal, we

          5  are also concerned urgently about the possibility,

          6  and I don't want to have a fire, you know, and have

          7  no remedy.

          8                 MR. PAVLOU: That is one of our fears

          9  as well, in the sense that if you do have

         10  underground storage tanks, some of those vapors, you

         11  know, as a result of the releases may get into

         12  sewers and do cause a fire or an explosion.

         13                 As I said before, if the thrust of

         14  your question concerns, you know, heating oil, in

         15  houses, you know, there was a legislative exemption

         16  to that effect --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: So take it up

         18  with the feds is what you are telling me?

         19                 MR. PAVLOU:-- But they may have

         20  additional --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: But you are

         22  the feds.

         23                 MR. BERNSTEIN: We are the feds, but

         24  while we have been sitting here blasting the state,

         25  I should note that the State actually regulates
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          2  these tanks.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Excuse me

          4  sir?

          5                 MR. PAVLOU: The state regulates those

          6  tanks.

          7                 MR. BERNSTEIN: So, although we don't

          8  regulate the tanks at the federal level, the state

          9  does and does have authority to go after and clean

         10  up heating oil spills, so they are more stringent

         11  than us in that regulation.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Okay.

         13                 So, we have got, the bottom line is

         14  we have got a very urgent problem that we have to

         15  address, and I don't want to create a panic but it

         16  is one that has got to be addressed with a good deal

         17  of urgency.

         18                 Now, if you have one of these fuel

         19  oil tanks, you don't even know where they exist, do

         20  you? You have no record of them. Is there any way to

         21  get a number? When you were counting underground

         22  storage tanks, have you had any record? If you want

         23  to put a tank underground, do you have to get a

         24  Department of Buildings approval? How long ago did

         25  this reg apply?
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          2                 MR. BERNSTEIN: Heating oil tanks we

          3  can actually locate a lot of them by Building

          4  Department records, and the ones that are above

          5  1,100 gallons we do actually have in a database.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: What about

          7  below 1,100 gallons?

          8                 MR. BERNSTEIN: If you just have one

          9  little heating oil tank --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: What if you

         11  have an 1,100 and below? Is it 1,100 and above, or

         12  1,080 gallon tank?

         13                 MR. BERNSTEIN: The 1,080 gallon

         14  tanks, if that is the only tank at the property, we

         15  do not know where it is unless somebody does the

         16  research in the Building Department.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: There is a

         18  1,080 tank?

         19                 MR. BERNSTEIN: There are hundreds and

         20  thousands of them in New York City, I am aware of

         21  that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: So what are

         23  we going to do?

         24                 MR. BERNSTEIN: Unfortunately we don't

         25  have any regulatory authority to do that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: We need to

          3  find some legislative way to address this potential

          4  harm to the underground aquifer, right?

          5                 MR. BERNSTEIN: Right. But the State

          6  can address those tanks if there is a problem, they

          7  do have the authority.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: And we don't

          9  know there is a problem until what? When do we know

         10  there is a problem, until the husband and wife

         11  determine their oil bills are higher and they are

         12  not going to -- I mean, the agencies, the

         13  enforcement agencies have no way of monitoring, no

         14  way of --

         15                 MR. BERNSTEIN: You are absolutely

         16  correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: That is a

         18  little scary.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: It is more

         20  than a little scary.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Council Member

         23  Fiala.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman.
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          2                 I am somewhat confused, if we can

          3  just backtrack a bit.

          4                 Director, in your opening remarks,

          5  you said that with respect to the 1998 upgrade

          6  deadline, the EPA has received about 100

          7  self-disclosures from New York-based facilities. We

          8  are relying totally on self-disclosure; is that

          9  correct?

         10                 MR. BERNSTEIN: No, that is not

         11  correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: I guess what I

         13  am trying to figure out is, of all of the tanks out

         14  there, and let's do this micro, and let's take New

         15  York City, apart from New York State, of all of the

         16  tanks out there, based on EPA definitions of a

         17  violation, what percentage of the total are in

         18  violation of your regulations?

         19                 MR. PAVLOU: In New York State in

         20  general?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: In New York

         22  City.

         23                 MR. PAVLOU: In New York City? We said

         24  before that 60 percent of the active underground

         25  storage tanks are in, you know, compliance, meaning
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          2  that about 40 percent are out of compliance.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: That's 40

          4  percent, all right, because there was some confusion

          5  with numbers.

          6                 Now, New York State has not bought

          7  into the EPA regulations, that is correct? We are

          8  one of three states?

          9                 MR. PAVLOU: All I am saying is that

         10  they don't have the regulations because they do not

         11  have the enabling legislation to allow them to

         12  upgrade their regulations.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: And we have no

         14  thoughts as to why legislation hasn't been enacted?

         15                 MR. PAVLOU: Like I said, I cannot

         16  speak for the New York State legislature as to why

         17  and for what reasons they opted not to pass --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Well, is it

         19  possible that as with so many other things, you

         20  know, the State does this to the City, and it is not

         21  only New York State, I mean the federal government

         22  had a tendency to do this to states, states do it to

         23  municipalities, if we were to compare State

         24  regulations juxtaposed to the EPA, how glaring are

         25  the differences?
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          2                 I mean, would you say they are leaps

          3  and bounds apart? I mean, I jotted down a few things

          4  here and you said that New York State does an

          5  effective job, and someone else said that they in

          6  terms of remediation either meet or exceed EPA

          7  regulations, and in dealing with DEC officials they

          8  have as efficient or professional a staff as EPA;

          9  what are the differences between the two in terms of

         10  --

         11                 MR. PAVLOU: I can address that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you want to

         13  go into that now?

         14                 MR. PAVLOU: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Well, I don't

         16  want to know the specifics, I don't want to hear the

         17  list.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I was going to

         19  ask him that question anyway.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: What I want to

         21  determine --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You are asking

         23  that question, you deserve an answer. You want to

         24  know the difference between what --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Do you want to
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          2  go through the entire list right now?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It is not that

          4  long, I am sure.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Go ahead.

          6                 MR. PAVLOU: I would say that, you

          7  know, besides the fact that they need to upgrade

          8  their regulations, the New York State must have

          9  legislation requiring those who own underground

         10  storage tanks to upgrade to our new standards by the

         11  deadline of December 22nd, 1998. Meaning that it

         12  hasn't been done, meaning that any of the old tanks

         13  that have been there without conforming to our

         14  regulations are still there without knowing whether

         15  or not they are leaking, without knowing whether or

         16  not, you know, leak detection type of, you know,

         17  monitoring can take, release detection can, you

         18  know, take place.

         19                 The other, you know, most glaring I

         20  guess I would say difference besides the volume

         21  difference, is the one that under New York State

         22  legislation and regulation the state can only

         23  require that these tanks be monitored once every

         24  five years. Meaning that if after the first year

         25  that that tank was leaking you are going to have to
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          2  wait another four years to determine whether or not

          3  there was a leakage in there.

          4                 New York State does not yet require

          5  site assessments at their closures for underground

          6  storage tanks. We do require site assessments at all

          7  closures to make sure as, you know, Council Member

          8  Leffler mentioned before, that whatever remains

          9  behind is of good quality and protective of human

         10  health in the environment.

         11                 And the other thing is general

         12  operating requirements regarding spill and overflow

         13  protection, that is the main difference, we do

         14  require spill and overflow protection, such that

         15  even if it does happen, you know, you are containing

         16  the spill without allowing it to contaminate the

         17  soil or the groundwater.

         18                 And the last one is financial

         19  responsibility. New York State must require tank

         20  owners to have some means of financial assurance to

         21  ensure adequate clean-up funds in case of a release

         22  as required by EPA.

         23                 These are the six differences between

         24  EPA and New York State.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Including the
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          2  one you gave before, about the fact that we don't

          3  recognize -- the size of the tanks.

          4                 MR. PAVLOU: The volume of the tanks,

          5  yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: To 110.

          7                 MR. PAVLOU: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: What type of

          9  monetary incentives is EPA willing to provide to New

         10  York State?

         11                 MR. PAVLOU: Incentives?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Well, this is a

         13  mandate, let's see it as such, and is the federal

         14  government willing to put its money where its mouth

         15  is?

         16                 I mean that is really what we are

         17  getting to here. There will be additional burdens

         18  imposed upon the state.

         19                 MR. PAVLOU: The greatest incentives

         20  besides monetary incentives is protection of human

         21  health in the environment. To me that would be the

         22  greatest incentive of all.

         23                 In terms of the monetary incentive,

         24  it would be, as John said, we would increase our

         25  grants to the state to allow them to hire a few more
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          2  professionals to implement their regulations.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Has New York

          4  State, to your knowledge, applied for any of these

          5  grants?

          6                 MR. PAVLOU: We have ongoing

          7  agreements in grants with New York State as it is

          8  right now, yes. And we can give them even more.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Well, so that

         10  the record doesn't reflect that I am just a

         11  cold-hearted person who doesn't spend a dime, I mean

         12  I don't want one to think that I am putting money

         13  ahead of improving drinking water, but there are

         14  realities, and if there are differences in

         15  regulations, I suspect, I suspect that there are

         16  cost burdens associated with implementing EPA

         17  regulations, and just as the state does to New York

         18  City certain mandates, the government does to states

         19  and it helps, so that I will soften my language

         20  here, it helps when the government that comes up

         21  with these great regulations that we all applaud,

         22  and anybody that was sensible could not applaud

         23  them, but it helps when there are monies attached to

         24  those regulations so that we could implement them at

         25  either a state or municipal level. So I just leave
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          2  you with that thought for the federal government to

          3  ponder as it goes about trying to work with New York

          4  State, and I hope that New York State will

          5  eventually rise to the occasion and sign on to those

          6  regulations and it will be able to work with the EPA

          7  and the federal government to ensure that we share

          8  the burden of the cost.

          9                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And I don't know

         11  if Mr. Fiala was here, but there are only three

         12  states in the United States who haven't complied

         13  with it, Hawaii, Idaho and New York, and we are the

         14  only significantly populated state that hasn't

         15  complied. I mean, to be put in that category, it is

         16  like everybody compares our education system at

         17  times when they want to knock it with the

         18  Mississippi education system.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: You are right,

         20  Mr. Chairman. And I blast New York State for its

         21  policies with respect to educational aid, we should

         22  blast the federal government sometimes if they are

         23  doing to the state what the state does to us. That

         24  is all I wanted the record to reflect.

         25                 Clearly New York State shortchanges
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          2  New York City. I would more than like to see these

          3  regulations imposed. They should have been imposed a

          4  long time ago, but if there is a cost factor

          5  associated with it. I don't want people to go under

          6  the impression that somehow New York State is

          7  sitting on its hands and saying we choose, we choose

          8  not to provide this assistance to the citizens of

          9  New York State.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I think the only

         11  cost factor is paying the salaries of the people who

         12  do the regulation, and they are out there anyway.

         13  The other cost, the cost of upgrading these

         14  underground storage systems is borne by the owners.

         15                 MR. PAVLOU: Exactly. That was my

         16  comment that I was attempting to intercede to you.

         17                 That the cost here is not the cost to

         18  the State of New York. The cost here is to the

         19  owners of those tanks that have been leaking, that

         20  they need to either replace those tanks or either

         21  clean up the contaminated soils.

         22                 The cost to the State of New York

         23  would be in terms of the additional resources that

         24  they would need to hire to implement the program,

         25  and EPA would provide for that coverage.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: As contrast to

          3  the cost of not doing it, and the contamination and

          4  later the cost of cleaning up these contaminated

          5  areas whether they be brownfields or other types of

          6  fields, it costs a fortune.

          7                 MR. PAVLOU: Which would be

          8  quantitatively a lot higher.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: This is really

         10  the nature of preventative medicine.

         11                 MR. PAVLOU: That an ounce of

         12  prevention is worth --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I have heard

         14  that one.

         15                 Council Member Marshall.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Pull the mic

         18  closer to you, my dear colleague.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: On the

         20  bottom of the next to the last page of your

         21  testimony, it talks about, unless underground

         22  storage tanks present an endangerment to public

         23  health and the environment, small businesses and

         24  local government facilities will remain a low

         25  priority for enforcement with 1990 upgrade
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          2  requirements until June of this year.

          3                 MR. PAVLOU: That's correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Now, I have

          5  seen in my community, in my district, a number of

          6  gasoline stations that are either going under

          7  construction, some of them have sort of almost been

          8  put out of business, at least they are while that is

          9  going on, and others who have already completed it,

         10  but I understand it is not really through our

         11  enforcement efforts, it is the market that is

         12  driving them, the wholesalers.

         13                 MR. PAVLOU: That is correct. That is

         14  a very accurate statement in a sense that a lot of

         15  the suppliers of fuel to gasoline stations did not

         16  want to assume the liability for releases into the

         17  environment so they have discontinued delivery of

         18  fuel to a lot of gasoline stations that haven't

         19  complied with the EPA regulations. So, there is also

         20  the market incentive as well. But it is for the best

         21  interest of the small owner if they want to remain

         22  in business to comply with the EPA regulations.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Who is

         24  driving the suppliers?

         25                 MR. PAVLOU: Well --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: And they are

          3  not just doing it out of the goodness of their

          4  heart. Is somebody working to enforce this, making

          5  them work, making them push this?

          6                 MR. PAVLOU: Well, again, it is the

          7  issue of liability that if they were to go in --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: This is a

          9  liability then?

         10                 MR. PAVLOU: Yes.

         11                 If they supply gasoline, for example,

         12  to a station that was found to have tanks leaking,

         13  and we were to go in there and clean it up, there is

         14  an assumption that the person who knowingly supplied

         15  the fuel should share the burden for cleaning up as

         16  well.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: I guess my

         18  point is that somebody is pushing them and I am

         19  asking them --

         20                 MR. PAVLOU: It's legislation.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Is it

         22  federal legislation?

         23                 MR. PAVLOU: Our regulations, yes,

         24  that's correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Okay.
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          2                 MR. PAVLOU: It is not equivalent to

          3  the Superfund legislation. Yes, the Superfund

          4  legislation which makes liable not only the owner

          5  and operator but also the transporters as well. And

          6  there is what we call joint several liability that

          7  if one of those entities did have the financial

          8  wherewithal to assume the entire cost of the

          9  clean-up, then we can go after them as well.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: What is the

         11  deadline on --

         12                 MR. PAVLOU: There was, it passed, we

         13  haven't extended it.

         14                 The only reason why I mention that --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: So they are

         16  not in compliance now --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: December 22nd

         18  and ten years to comply.

         19                 MR. PAVLOU: Yes, they had ten years

         20  to comply. If they are out of compliance right now,

         21  there are only two remedies: either you upgrade or

         22  you shut down.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And we are not

         24  extending the deadline?

         25                 MR. PAVLOU: No, we are not.
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          2                 The only reason why we gave a

          3  six-month grace period is for those who, essentially

          4  for those small businesses or small, you know, local

          5  governments, to comply with the regulations, we gave

          6  them an additional six months in a way of where we

          7  are going to concentrate our efforts for the bigger

          8  entities and allow the smaller businessmen to escape

          9  our attention for six months. But after that we are

         10  going to enforce the same way that we are enforcing

         11  against everybody.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And we are going

         13  to keep this problem, even know we have the Y2K

         14  problem.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: I am glad

         16  that you are not extending the deadline and that you

         17  are sticking by your guns, that is very, very

         18  important. These gasoline stations are next to homes

         19  and schools, et cetera.

         20                 MR. PAVLOU: That's correct. I know

         21  there are some in my neighborhood who have shut

         22  down.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: What are we

         24  going to do about the city's?

         25                 MR. PAVLOU: Well, as we mentioned
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          2  before, you know, we are working with the City of

          3  New York. But it doesn't necessarily mean that

          4  because they are out of compliance that we are not

          5  going to follow up with an enforcement action

          6  against them, and requiring even penalties of a

          7  failure to comply.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Council Member

          9  Marshall has an ability to get to the real nub of

         10  the issue, which is very good. I appreciate it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Now, does

         12  the federal government have to rely on the state to

         13  enforce this?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Council Member

         15  Marshall, I don't want to go into that, we have gone

         16  all over that. I will explain that to you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: All right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Read the report

         19  because it contains that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Okay.

         21                 Because my experiences with the State

         22  DEC have not been positive.

         23                 I was in the Assembly and we were

         24  battling Flushing Bay and --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Unfortunately
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          2  they are not here today, even though they were

          3  invited, so they can't defend themselves.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes. Well,

          5  that is their fault, not mine.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That's right.

          7                 Thank you, Council Member Marshall.

          8                 Mr. Miller, please.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chairman.

         11                 You testified that you have eight

         12  inspectors for the region; is that correct?

         13                 MR. PAVLOU: That's correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: And that

         15  covers New York, New Jersey, the Virgin Islands,

         16  anything else or just those?

         17                 MR. PAVLOU: Puerto Rico.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: And Puerto

         19  Rico.

         20                 How many of your inspectors are at

         21  the Virgin Islands and Puerto Rico?

         22                 MR. PAVLOU: Let me mention that New

         23  York and Puerto Rico have -- I am sorry, New Jersey

         24  and Puerto Rico have been approved, and they are the

         25  ones who are managing this program in lieu of EPA.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: So, you don't

          3  really have any inspectors in those areas at all?

          4                 MR. PAVLOU: We are relying -- believe

          5  it or not, you know, Puerto Rico has a very, very

          6  effective program in regulating underground storage

          7  tanks, that they have excelled in that fashion, as a

          8  matter of fact.

          9                 We haven't done any inspections in

         10  Puerto Rico, we are relying totally on --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: So you are

         12  relying on the State in that case?

         13                 MR. PAVLOU: Exactly. We provided the

         14  money, we provided about $300,000 for them to hire

         15  the people and do those inspections for us.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay.

         17                 You testified earlier that in your

         18  estimation there are 3,300 tanks in the City of New

         19  York --

         20                 MR. PAVLOU: Active tanks.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Active tanks

         22  in the City of New York that are out of compliance,

         23  or at least you have no reason to believe they are

         24  within compliance.

         25                 You got about eight inspectors, but
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          2  you are going to have to, as you said, they are not

          3  in New Jersey and Puerto Rico, but you didn't

          4  mention the Virgin Islands, so they have to cover

          5  the Virgin Islands as well, and that is for the

          6  whole State of New York?

          7                 MR. PAVLOU: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: And how many

          9  tanks are there in the State of New York, do you

         10  know?

         11                 MR. PAVLOU: Overall? There are 35 to

         12  40,000 -- I am sorry, 35 to 40,000 active tanks.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Active. And

         14  how many of those -- is it about the same

         15  percentage, about 60 percent? So, you are looking at

         16  another 15,000, 16,000 tanks that are not currently

         17  in compliance and you guys have eight inspectors.

         18                 MR. PAVLOU: Unquestionably there is a

         19  lot of work to be done out there.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Well, I am

         21  almost sorry to be taking your time here, but when

         22  do you think is a reasonable date that you expect to

         23  achieve something that approaches say 95 percent of

         24  compliance?

         25                 In other words, when can the
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          2  residents of the City of New York, and the residents

          3  of the State of New York, when they go to bed at

          4  night feel under the current plan, as things are

          5  going along now, given the State has not adopted

          6  regulations which meets the federal regulations, for

          7  which should they adopt it, as far as -- from your

          8  testimony what you are saying is there is no penalty

          9  for the state not to adopt these regulations, but

         10  they currently have to do a whole bunch of

         11  enforcement of their own regulations, and if they

         12  did adopt regulations that met the federal

         13  regulations, you would then give them money to help

         14  them hire people to do the additional enforcement;

         15  is that correct?

         16                 MR. PAVLOU: That's correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: So it won't

         18  cost the State of New York money to adopt these

         19  regulations and it will enable them to do more

         20  effective enforcement, to of the regulations that

         21  people who are business owners who are operating

         22  these tanks already have to meet whether or not the

         23  state adopts the regulations; is that correct?

         24                 MR. KUSHWARA: Well, we are going to

         25  provide, again, as I mentioned before, you know, the
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          2  necessary funding for them to hire, you know, their

          3  staff to do the work.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: But people

          5  have to meet the regulations now.

          6                 MR. KUSHWARA: Right, yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: So that if you

          8  are a business owner, it makes no difference to you

          9  from the point of view, I guess it makes no

         10  difference to you whether or not, from the point of

         11  view of the law at least, whether or not the State

         12  passes regulations that meet the federal standard,

         13  you have to meet those regulations from the point of

         14  view of the law, perhaps the only reason that there

         15  might be an incentive for this state as from a

         16  business owner's point of view, for the state not to

         17  adopt these regulations is that there will be less

         18  enforcement so they are less likely to get caught?

         19                 I mean, what possible reason is there

         20  for these regulations not to be adopted? Sitting

         21  from where we are I can't think of any.

         22                 MR. PAVLOU: Well, I can't think of

         23  any either.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: So, has anyone

         25  ever, or have you ever heard of any?
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          2                 MR. PAVLOU: Any reasons?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Yes. Has there

          4  ever been like a business lobby that circulated

          5  something that you read that said why the State

          6  should not adopt these regulations?

          7                 MR. PAVLOU: No.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: So there is no

          9  reason that we are aware of why the State hasn't

         10  adopted the regulations? They get money contrary to

         11  perhaps some confusion, it is not really an unfunded

         12  mandate, it is exactly a funded mandate, except on

         13  the business owner?

         14                 MR. PAVLOU: All I can say is that

         15  there must be enabling legislation passed first with

         16  the State of New York to pass those regulations.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay.

         18                 MR. PAVLOU: So, it has to be, you

         19  know, an effort on both sides of the legislature to

         20  pass the law.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Right.

         22                 Okay, returning to my previous

         23  question before I side tracked myself, for which I

         24  apologize but which I have a tendency to do. How

         25  long is it going to be?
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          2                 MR. PAVLOU: I cannot really answer

          3  that question. It would be years.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: It is going to

          5  be years before the residents of the State and City

          6  of New York can have confidence that the underground

          7  storage tanks in the State are almost fully in

          8  compliance with the current regulations?

          9                 MR. PAVLOU: In terms of full

         10  compliance it would be years. In terms of us

         11  responding and the State of New York responding to

         12  imminent threats or significant threats, I can tell

         13  you that that would be almost immediate.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: And how long

         15  will it before you start levying serious fines

         16  against the City, for just storage tanks per se?

         17                 MR. PAVLOU:  I cannot answer that

         18  because it involves enforcement actions and

         19  deliberations between us and the City and I cannot

         20  really comment on those.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: But if the

         22  City were not to take any steps to increase its

         23  compliance for a year, let's say?

         24                 MR. PAVLOU: All I can say, the longer

         25  they take, the heavier the penalty.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay, thank

          3  you, Mr. Chairman.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 Gentlemen, thank you very much, we

          8  appreciate your coming. This is a continuing thing

          9  and we are just discussing it and please be aware

         10  that we very well may have another hearing on this

         11  issue and we need your input, we need your advice

         12  and we appreciate your being here.

         13                 MR. PAVLOU: Thank you very much.

         14                 MR. BERNSTEIN: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chairman.

         16                 MR. WHITE: Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Next we are

         18  going to hear from the Administration. I think it

         19  would be very good if you could have somebody remain

         20  after you leave the witness table, I think there may

         21  be testimony you may want to hear.

         22                 MR. KUSHWARA: Okay, thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Doug, once again

         25  it is good to have you aboard.
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          2                 MR. WHITE: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Next we have the

          4  Administration.

          5                 I think Mr. Stasiuk is outside and he

          6  may want to join you; is that right?

          7                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And the Fire

          9  Department is here too.

         10                 Commissioner, are you going to have

         11  everybody sitting with you? What is your whim?

         12                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Mr. Chairman,

         13  we have the Law Department here.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Whoever you want

         15  to join you, or you can go separately.

         16                 Welcome.

         17                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It is nice to

         19  have you here.

         20                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: If you would,

         23  Commissioner, identify everybody, yourself, however

         24  you want to handle it.

         25                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Certainly,
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          2  thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: This is your

          4  first appearance before my Committee. We do know

          5  each other, I am appreciative of you coming and I

          6  look forward to other appearances and working with

          7  you. Thank you.

          8                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Well, thank

          9  you very much. We think this is an important issue

         10  and therefore I think it was important that I attend

         11  today and let you know what we are doing.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you.

         13                 I suppose you have a statement?

         14                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes, I do.

         15                 Let me just introduce myself and the

         16  rest of the folks at the table here with me today.

         17                 My name is Lou Tormenta, and I am the

         18  Commissioner of the Department of Design and

         19  Construction.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PESTKA: I am

         21  Joanna Pestka, Assistant Commissioner at DDC.

         22                 MR. MARINO: I am Tony Marino, Deputy

         23  Program Director with the Transportation Unit.

         24                 MS. VANEISTEN: I am Inga Vaneisten, I

         25  am an attorney in the Environmental Division at the
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          2  New York City Law Department.

          3                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Thank you. I

          4  have got a statement, if you don't mind I would like

          5  to read it.

          6                 Today, Chairman Michels, members of

          7  the Council, I am here today to brief you on DDC's

          8  role in implementing the City's program to meet the

          9  regulatory requirements regarding fuel and storage

         10  tanks in New York City.

         11                 DDC was created in 1996 to design and

         12  build capital projects for City agencies. We

         13  currently serve over 20 client agencies. Capital

         14  projects are developed by the client agencies which

         15  obtain funding and determine the scope and schedule

         16  for the projects.

         17                 DDC then procures and manages the

         18  design and construction services on behalf of those

         19  agencies.

         20                 DDC was created by consolidating the

         21  Street Reconstruction Program from the Department of

         22  Transportation, the Sewer and Water Main Programs

         23  for the Department of Environmental Protection, and

         24  the Buildings Program from the former Department of

         25  General Services.
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          2                 One of the programs that DDC assumed

          3  from the Department of General Services was the Fuel

          4  Tank Program. The City began to implement its fuel

          5  tank program in 1992. As part of this program the

          6  City addressed the motor vehicle refueling tank

          7  facilities. To date the City has spent approximately

          8  $123 million to test, close, remove or upgrade

          9  approximately 1600 gas and diesel fuel tanks. All of

         10  these tanks meet current regulatory standards.

         11                 A preliminary inventory of additional

         12  tanks, such as emergency generator tanks and waste

         13  product tanks, was completed by City agencies. DDC

         14  is currently conducting a more in-depth survey to

         15  identify the exact categories of tanks and to assess

         16  what additional work may be required to meet current

         17  regulatory requirements for these tanks.

         18                 And if I just may add, it is not in

         19  my testimony, but having sat through the testimony

         20  of the EPA and hearing your questions, and one of

         21  the concerns being the tanks that are in the upstate

         22  watershed area, those tanks that are owned by the

         23  City, any of the City agencies that have any type of

         24  fueling tank in the watershed area upstate have been

         25  dealt with. We have remediated, actually I wouldn't
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          2  say remediated, but we have at least upgraded the

          3  tanks or at a minimum closed the tanks down. So, I

          4  just wanted to let you know there is full compliance

          5  in that area.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And I thank you

          7  very much. We are very much concerned, as you are,

          8  because as you know we have a heavy investment.

          9                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Absolutely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And the amount

         11  of money that will be spent, it is bad enough we

         12  have to rely upon the state or the feds to check the

         13  other tanks not owned by this City, septic tanks and

         14  those things like that.

         15                 Are you finished with your statement?

         16                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I am

         17  concluded, yes. Any questions I will be glad to

         18  respond.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes, Mr. Miller

         20  had a question.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Thank you.

         22                 Commissioner, I was looking at this

         23  DDC remediation project status and I had a couple of

         24  questions as to what, you know, I was going through

         25  to find naturally those that were in my district and
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          2  I did find a couple that were identifiably in my

          3  district.

          4                 For example, there is one in

          5  discussion of the 19th Police Precinct.  The

          6  comments at the end say limited contam period, no GW

          7  impact. I assume that means groundwater.

          8                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Can you refer

          9  to the page that you are on, please, Councilman.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: I wish I

         11  could.

         12                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: There is a

         13  number at the bottom of the page.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Number six.

         15  Although there seems to be more than one six. Yes,

         16  there is more than one six. You get through six,

         17  seven, eight -- oh, actually it is ten, and then it

         18  goes back to one, two, three, four, five, six; do

         19  you see that?

         20                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: What precinct

         21  are you referring to again?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: The 19th

         23  Precinct. Third from the top.

         24                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Now, looking
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          2  at this, just as an example so that it is going to

          3  assist us in reading the rest of it, the current CM

          4  means? What does CM stand for there?

          5                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That is the

          6  construction manager who is actually handling, the

          7  private contractor who is doing the work for the

          8  City, for us.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay, his

         10  initials.

         11                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: It doesn't

         13  mean that it is okay, it means --

         14                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: No, no. It

         15  just happens to be that it is O'Brien Kreitzberg the

         16  name of the company, so the initials are OK.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay. So, the

         18  design for remediation of this was submitted on the

         19  24th of June of '96 and was approved August 10th, is

         20  that what that means?

         21                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That is

         22  correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: And then what

         24  is the original submission? Moving immediately to

         25  the right, it says SSIP approved.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Maybe we can

          3  explain what the report does and maybe that would

          4  give you a little bit more, sort of in general terms

          5  what we are doing and how we are going about dealing

          6  with the program.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Great.

          8                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: And I think

          9  that will respond to some of this.

         10                 The tanks that the City is currently

         11  or has dealt with and has dealt with in a sense that

         12  they meet the EPA requirements, as well as the State

         13  requirements, and which ever were the most stringent

         14  is the ones that we dealt with, are the tanks that

         15  are identified here and those tanks fall into the

         16  category of motor vehicle refueling tank facilities.

         17  So those are the tanks where we refuel the City's

         18  vehicles or the City's fleet.

         19                 What you see in the report is the

         20  reporting mechanism that we use to send to the state

         21  that shows how well we are doing in terms of

         22  compliance or progress in compliance with consent

         23  order that the City entered into with the State in

         24  1994.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Regarding
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          2  underground storage tanks.

          3                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Correct.

          4  Regarding underground storage tanks specifically for

          5  motor vehicle refueling facilities.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: So that is

          7  meeting the state regulations regarding underground

          8  storage tanks?

          9                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: The consent

         10  decree established a certain protocol that we have

         11  to follow. As part of that protocol we chose when

         12  dealing with our fueling facilities to address which

         13  ever were the most stringent requirements, whether

         14  they were EPA or whether they were the State's, we

         15  chose to address whichever one were the most

         16  stringent, obviously not knowing whether or not in

         17  the future, as you have been discussing with EPA,

         18  that if further regulations were passed, the

         19  legislation was passed that required more stringent

         20  work, the City did not want to be in a position of

         21  not being compliant.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay.

         23                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Okay. So, what

         24  the report identifies are the various sites of the

         25  fueling facilities, and what it has is this SSIP,
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          2  which why don't you tell exactly what it stands for.

          3                 MR. MARINO: Site Specific

          4  Investigation Plan.

          5                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Okay, the SSIP

          6  is what is called the Site Specific Investigation

          7  Plan, and what that means is that we have gone

          8  through, tested the tank, and we have identified

          9  whether or not the tank was leaking and we have

         10  identified what the program was to either shut the

         11  tank down or replace the tank, whether we had to

         12  remove the tank, if the tank in fact was leaking,

         13  and it also identified whether or not there were any

         14  contaminants as part of a leaking tank problem.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: How do you

         16  determine whether a tank is leaking?

         17                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Well, there

         18  are tests that are conducted of the tanks, they

         19  could be hydrostatic pressure tests or they could be

         20  air tests that are done of the tanks to see whether

         21  or not the tanks hold a certain amount of pressure

         22  over a certain period of time.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay. All

         24  right, so what we are looking at here then is the

         25  Site Specific Improvement Plan investigation plan?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Right.

          4                 And that was done, for example, with

          5  the 19th Precinct, the plan was submitted on June

          6  24th and it was approved on August 10th and this

          7  means that the original submission means what, that

          8  the plan was then submitted back to the Department

          9  on September 15th, is that how that works?

         10                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: What the

         11  original submission is, is after the SSIP is

         12  submitted, which basically tells the state what we

         13  have found based on all of our investigative work,

         14  that then there is a requirement, the State approves

         15  that, the next step in the process is for us to

         16  develop a remediation program that addresses how we

         17  will take out of the ground, if you will, the

         18  contaminants that have been identified, if any have

         19  been identified.

         20                 There are various -- depending on the

         21  types of contaminants that are found underground,

         22  depending on the extent of the contaminants,

         23  depending on whether it is only soil that is

         24  contaminated, whether it is possibly groundwater

         25  that is contaminated, there are various engineering
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          2  solutions to that. That then is what has developed

          3  between the time that the SSIP is approved in this

          4  case as you say in August of 1996, and then

          5  resubmitted to the State in September of 1997,

          6  advising the State how the City intends to, from an

          7  engineering perspective address that problem.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: So, when we

          9  are looking at this -- so, then looking across to

         10  the 19th Precinct, what you basically discovered

         11  there was that there was some contamination in the

         12  soil, but you felt it was so limited as to have no

         13  impact upon the groundwater and therefore no

         14  remediation was necessary to take place.

         15                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That's

         16  correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: I feel like I

         18  am going to get another life, you know, that video

         19  game.

         20                 Go ahead, sorry.

         21                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I feel

         22  sometimes like the little ball is -- and you guys

         23  are the Packman.

         24                 Yes, we find that in certain cases,

         25  depending on the site, based on the standards that
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          2  are established that certain contamination falls

          3  within acceptable levels and it is not something

          4  where the soil needs to be remediated.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay.

          6                 So, in all of the cases then in this

          7  chart, and do you know how many sites there are

          8  throughout the whole chart? And how does this --

          9                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: There is

         10  approximately 1,600 tanks, and that is probably more

         11  of a real sort of -- it is more indicative of what

         12  we are dealing with as opposed to sites, but there

         13  is something in excess of 500 sites that we are

         14  dealing with.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Are the tanks

         16  that are listed in this letter in here as well? Or

         17  they are not in here?

         18                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: They are not

         19  in there. If I can read that letter from here, is

         20  that the February 11th letter?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: No, this is

         22  the boy we got problems letter.

         23                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: No, those

         24  tanks are not addressed on these sheets.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: And why is
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          2  that?

          3                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Because the

          4  consent order which the City entered into with the

          5  State, was again to address -- and that is why I was

          6  trying to sort of highlight the category of tanks

          7  before, for motor vehicle refueling facilities.

          8                 Obviously there is a lot more

          9  different types of sites and different types of

         10  tanks than just those that are used to store fuel

         11  and diesel for motor vehicles. Those sites that are

         12  referred to in that letter that you just held up are

         13  sites that involve, or tanks that involve things

         14  such as emergency generator, diesel tanks, possibly

         15  fuel, primarily diesel tanks, storage tanks of

         16  different types of petroleum products, which are not

         17  necessarily used for -- which are not used, not

         18  necessarily, are not used for fueling the City's

         19  fleet, and that is the distinction between --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: By the City's

         21  fleet you mean cars?

         22                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: I mean, I

         24  assume that, you know, all these garages would have

         25  diesel. I mean, they have got to be fueling some
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          2  sort of, if it is a garage and diesel --

          3                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: They are

          4  fueling everything from police cruisers to fire

          5  trucks.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay. So, they

          7  are -- I am failing to see the distinction there

          8  between -- this is for tanks to fuel cars and these

          9  are tanks that fuel something other than cars?

         10                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: No. Let me

         11  see. I am sorry I am not articulating this properly.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: No.

         13                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: We have

         14  addressed 1,600 tanks under, and I am not sure which

         15  lists now, there is a lot of paper up there, you are

         16  holding up, so maybe that is where we have the

         17  confusion.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: This is your

         19  DDC one.

         20                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Right. The

         21  1/29/99 report, right? At the bottom on the

         22  right-hand side?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Right.

         24                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Right. That is

         25  a status report which identifies --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Regarding the

          3  consent decree --

          4                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: That you

          6  entered into the state --

          7                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Which covered

          9  all of the City's motor vehicle --

         10                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Refueling

         11  sites.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Refueling

         13  tanks.

         14                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Refueling

         15  tanks.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: And so this is

         17  a bunch of tanks that many of which are fueling

         18  vehicles but not --

         19                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: No. What you

         20  have there, and whatever is attached to that letter,

         21  or should be attached to that letter, is a list

         22  approximately a little bit over 600 tanks that are

         23  not vehicle fueling tanks. They are storage tanks or

         24  tanks that supply emergency generators in the City

         25  of New York.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Commissioner,

          3  this is a remediation for tanks which we know were

          4  leaking? There was leakage?

          5                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: No, not

          6  necessarily.

          7                 All of the tanks, if you now have the

          8  long list, January 29th, those were all of the known

          9  tanks that the City owns that are used for fueling

         10  vehicles in the City of New York, all of them.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Whether they

         12  were leaking or not.

         13                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Whether they

         14  were leaking or not. We have gone through an

         15  extensive program since 1994 to test to see whether

         16  or not they were leaking and to ensure that if they

         17  were leaking to either shut them down or to upgrade

         18  those facilities to assure that we were in

         19  compliance with EPA regulations and the consent

         20  order.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You call it a

         22  remediation, in other words you have to remediate

         23  problems where they do exist.

         24                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Well, it sort

         25  of becomes a definition of terms.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That's fine.

          3  Fine.

          4                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: What we in the

          5  engineering side call remediation is what we

          6  eventually do to address the contamination in the

          7  soil and the ground water.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And what

          9  percentage of these tanks that you report in here

         10  did you find that there was some leakage?

         11                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I don't have

         12  that figure.

         13                 I can tell you that any tanks that we

         14  found that were leaking --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am trying to

         16  get an idea, the purpose of my question is to get

         17  some sort of a ratio of the numbers that you look at

         18  and the numbers that turn out to be leaking?

         19                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And I guess you

         21  have to further refine it by the age of the tanks,

         22  what the tanks contain. In other words, to try to

         23  get some predictability as to what we are going to

         24  find in the future.

         25                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes. I can
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          2  tell you in rough terms, not necessarily in numbers

          3  of tanks but in numbers of sites, because for

          4  instance a site may have three or four different

          5  tanks. If we were to take about 600 sites, out of

          6  600 sites we have found anywhere from 200 we believe

          7  to 250 sites that actually require some sort of

          8  remediation.

          9                 So, if they require remediation, you

         10  could probably assume that those sites had leaking

         11  tanks, although quite interestingly we have had

         12  situations where there were City sites that are

         13  found to be contaminated where the tanks were not

         14  leaking because we were getting contamination from

         15  some other nearby gas station or private-owned tank.

         16                 But in rough terms, we have found 200

         17  to 250 out of 600 tanks, so probably about 30

         18  percent or so we would say of the tanks that we

         19  found did have leakage.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Now, does this

         21  list also contain tanks in which -- I understand you

         22  looked at these tanks with an eye at the federal

         23  regulations.

         24                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And some of them
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          2  would require replacements, some of the pipes --

          3  what am I looking for, what is the word?

          4                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Double wall.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Double walling,

          6  the detection systems and things like that, they

          7  would require replacement, and when they required

          8  replacement did you do replacement to this?

          9                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes, we did.

         10                 What we have done is in all cases, at

         11  the same time that we were addressing the compliance

         12  issue and whether or not tanks were leaking or not

         13  leaking, the City also undertook a program to try to

         14  consolidate as many of its fueling sites as possible

         15  where it made sense in order to be more effective in

         16  terms of where the vehicles, the City vehicles fuel

         17  and at the same time to minimize the amount of

         18  fueling facilities that would have to be upgraded.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am just trying

         20  to get the idea, is that when you were there you

         21  have to comply with the federal law?

         22                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes, sir.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: These were done

         24  in compliance with the federal law?

         25                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That's
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          2  correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And you chose

          4  these particular tanks to look at because you felt

          5  these were tanks that were at risk?

          6                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: We felt that

          7  the gasoline tanks, and the diesel tanks that fuel

          8  the vehicles, because they were the largest number

          9  of tanks that the City had and it was the largest

         10  volume, approximately 1,600 of what we think to be

         11  somewhere in the order of magnitude of 2,200 tanks

         12  in total, that those, since that was the brunt of

         13  what the City had in terms of tanks, that it made

         14  sense to address those tanks first, and that --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You have

         16  prioritized these tanks?

         17                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes, we did.

         18  We prioritized and addressed the 1,600 tanks.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay, so to

         21  return to this, maybe you addressed this and I just

         22  missed it, but when you went through here, all of

         23  these tanks are now either no longer in use or in

         24  compliance, right?

         25                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That's
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          2  correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: With the

          4  regulations.

          5                 And you went through and you

          6  determined whether or not remediation was necessary

          7  and whether or not there was some contamination, and

          8  when you looked through the list of those which had

          9  been gone through the process, it looks like there

         10  is a pretty strong percentage of tanks here that

         11  were contaminating the surrounding soil and

         12  groundwater and environment.

         13                 I mean, you know if there is an X

         14  somewhere under contamination, whether or not you

         15  felt remediation was required, there was some

         16  contamination, and that is the vast majority of

         17  these tanks; is that correct? Do you have any

         18  percentage? What percentage required remediation,

         19  what percentage had contamination?

         20                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Chairman

         21  Michels just asked me that, I don't have these

         22  specific figures. I mean, we can go through and do

         23  the math on these to give you that answer.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Right.

         25                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: What I said to
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          2  him is that, in terms of sites, not necessarily

          3  tanks, what we have is we think somewhere in the

          4  order of magnitude of 200 to 250 sites that require

          5  remediation out of the approximately 600 sites or so

          6  that we looked at. So, I mean round figures you are

          7  talking about somewhere about 30 --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: But you said

          9  this was 1,600 tanks, so there are only 600 sites

         10  for those 1,600 tanks?

         11                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That's right.

         12  Again, in round figures, give or take a couple of

         13  sites.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: But that is

         15  requiring remediation and I see that some of these

         16  sheets, you haven't even gotten to the point which

         17  you have been able to determine whether or not

         18  remediation was required yet, I mean for example,

         19  page four, I don't know whether it is the second or

         20  third page four. It doesn't have any X's or no

         21  comments and there is a whole bunch of police

         22  precincts here that don't have any determination

         23  made yet.

         24                 So, you haven't completed the process

         25  yet, but even out of the 200 or so cases where you
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          2  found remediation was required, many more than that

          3  there was some contamination as well, right?

          4                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: So you would

          6  expect then, with the 600 that are remaining that

          7  are not in compliance, that they would be somewhere

          8  in the area of 50, 60, 70 percent of these would

          9  have some contamination at least?

         10                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I don't know.

         11  I mean I really can't respond to that. If you want

         12  to do a correlation between what we have found --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Do you think

         14  it is reasonable to do a correlation between what

         15  you found? Are they different types of tanks?

         16                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: The variables

         17  are so great in terms of the age of the tank, where

         18  the tank has been placed in terms of the soil

         19  conditions and where the tanks have been in terms of

         20  the levels of corrosion that are created on these

         21  tanks, that it is such that it is literally

         22  impossible for us to make a determination of what

         23  the potential impact is on those future tanks.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: But we can all

         25  agree that there is a significant percentage of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            121

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  these tanks are likely leaking and causing

          3  contamination where they are now?

          4                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I think we

          5  agree that it is very likely that some of those

          6  tanks will create some level or have created some

          7  level of contamination in where they exist today.

          8  Significant or not, I do not know.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay. And I

         10  asked this of EPA, but you are certainly in a better

         11  position to answer the question with regard to the

         12  614 tanks listed as not in compliance. When can the

         13  residents of the City of New York expect that these

         14  614 tanks will be in compliance with federal

         15  regulations?

         16                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Let me

         17  explain, give you a long answer to a short question.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: It is very

         19  unusual for me to ask a short question, so --

         20                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That was a

         21  very succinct and specific question.

         22                 We have had an inventory conducted of

         23  those tanks, meaning we have identified that 614 of

         24  these types of tanks now exist, that is why that was

         25  in the letter to EPA. What we are currently doing is
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          2  going through a survey program that looks at those

          3  tanks, ensures that those tanks, because we are not

          4  even sure whether or not some of those tanks may be

          5  above ground tanks and not necessarily underground

          6  tanks per se, well the way we have to go about this,

          7  considering the magnitude that we are dealing with,

          8  the volume of tanks was to ask all of the City

          9  agencies, based on certain criteria, to identify

         10  these tanks for us. They have done that, that was

         11  recently completed.

         12                 We now have to go back, look at all

         13  of those sites, survey the sites, we expect to be

         14  able to finish that I would say by late spring,

         15  early summer. At that point we will restart a

         16  program that goes back to those individual sites, to

         17  those 600 sites, tests all of those tanks. That

         18  program to test all of the tanks could take us very

         19  well a year to two years to do, and then once we

         20  have tested all of the tanks, at that same time we

         21  will make a -- we will be making a recommendation to

         22  the state as it is shown here of what our assessment

         23  was and what the program is, in terms of either

         24  upgrading the tanks, closing the tanks or dealing

         25  with the remedial conditions that need to be done
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          2  because of the soil contamination or groundwater

          3  contamination, if any exists.

          4                 So you are probably looking in terms

          5  of a long-term approach, you can be looking at

          6  anywhere from two to four years before those 600

          7  tanks are addressed.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Well, that is

          9  obviously of great concern. I guess the question

         10  that I think, and I don't think this is necessarily,

         11  I am sure there is plenty of blame to go around, but

         12  why is it that the City, for regulations that were

         13  adopted 11 years ago, why is it that this list of,

         14  let alone this list which that still seems there is

         15  some work to do on it, why is it that we are here

         16  today? What is the problem?

         17                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Well, I would

         18  like to tell you definitively why it is that we have

         19  not done this and why all of the tanks in the City

         20  of New York are not in compliance at this date. The

         21  fact is that I don't know, but I can come up with

         22  what I think is a rather reasonable assumption as to

         23  why that was, and I think that is because the City

         24  chose to address back in 1994 to begin to address

         25  that area or that volume of tanks that were the most
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          2  crucial or most critical in terms of the numbers

          3  that existed, there were 1,600 tanks that were

          4  addressed, there is obviously also a resource issue.

          5  I mean, as EPA sat up here and talked about people

          6  and you asked them about why don't you have more

          7  people, we have spent since 1994 $123 million of

          8  capital money, that is a lot of money to address

          9  this.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: On just those

         11  1,600 tanks?

         12                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That's

         13  correct, just on those tanks, and we have further

         14  commitments to move on with additional tanks.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: What do you

         16  expect the budget to be to address these 614 tanks?

         17                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Well, let me

         18  give you another long answer to that.

         19                 We have $80 million between this year

         20  and next fiscal year, FY 2000, to continue to

         21  complete the program on the 1,600 tanks that you

         22  have here, which many of them are in compliance, and

         23  those that we did not upgrade, we shut them down,

         24  still need to be replaced, so you still have monies

         25  that we have to spend on these 1,600, although they
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          2  are now in compliance, and if they were not, as I

          3  said, we shut them down. And we have additional

          4  monies to deal with those 600 on that sheet you have

          5  there scheduled for next year, and we also have

          6  monies to deal with the heating oil tanks, scheduled

          7  for next year and the following year and also in the

          8  Year 2004 I believe.

          9                 To deal with the -- as I said for

         10  next year and this year we have a total of $80

         11  million, and in the Year 2001 we have an additional

         12  $4 million, in 2002 we have another $4 million and

         13  2004 we have $1`3 million.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: This is capital

         15  money?

         16                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: This is

         17  capital money.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And obviously it

         19  is going to cost you a heck of a lot more than that,

         20  we know that.

         21                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Well, the

         22  issue is again, we don't know what it costs us until

         23  we get into the tanks --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The fact of the

         25  matter is, you spent $123 million so far to discover
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          2  there are leaks there. Now you have to rehabilitate

          3  those leaks, you have to do something about those

          4  leaks. That is going to cost you additional money

          5  which you have about $80 million set aside.

          6                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Right. We have

          7  dealt with the leaks, what we haven't dealt with yet

          8  is the contamination.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The

         10  contamination caused by those leaks.

         11                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Now there is

         13  this universal 614 additional tanks, which we don't

         14  even know what the situation is there, it is going

         15  to cost you money to evaluate the situation, then it

         16  is going to cost you money to remediate the

         17  situation. Then you have to take additional monies

         18  by way of taking care of the damage caused by the

         19  leaks.

         20                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That's

         21  correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So nobody even

         23  knows what that figure is.

         24                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: No one knows,

         25  because no one knows the extent of the problem.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But we do know

          3  this, it has to be done.

          4                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We do know this,

          6  that whatever money needs to be done, we are going

          7  to have to appropriate it and we are going to have

          8  to issue bonds in order to borough the money to do

          9  that.

         10                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That's

         11  correct.

         12                 And as you can tell, from the monies

         13  that are already put in place over the next four

         14  years that the City is committed to moving forward

         15  with looking at the problem that we have.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Now, you said

         17  something about a two-year survey, what does that

         18  mean?

         19                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: No, it is not

         20  a two-year survey. What happens is that with the 600

         21  tanks that we were talking about --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The 614, right.

         23                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That

         24  Councilman Miller was asking about, with those

         25  tanks, we now know where those tanks are. We now
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          2  have to go in and do a survey of those tanks to

          3  ensure that in fact we are doing in effect quality

          4  assurance on the data that we gathered from all of

          5  the City agencies.

          6                 We now do a survey, that survey

          7  should be finished by the end of this spring. It

          8  identifies the types of tanks that we have, the age

          9  of the tanks, the condition of the tanks based on a

         10  visual inspection, and from that point we are going

         11  to proceed to start doing our testing program

         12  against those tanks and defining what we have to do

         13  in terms of either upgrade or closing those tanks.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Commissioner,

         15  when did you start that survey?

         16                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: We started in

         17  February. This month actually, we started earlier

         18  this month.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And I understand

         20  it is a lot of work, it is all underground and you

         21  don't even -- how do you know there is a tank there

         22  in the first place?

         23                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: How do I know

         24  that the tanks are there, is that that the question?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: For instance,
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          2  you found that there was a facility there, the gas

          3  station for instance, it may not be there anymore

          4  but --

          5                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: No, no. What

          6  we did was we went to all of the City agencies and

          7  identified what we were looking for, the types of

          8  tanks that we were looking for and asked that they

          9  submit information to us, identifying whether or not

         10  they have these types of tanks. Each agency, as you

         11  know, have facility personnel that use these tanks

         12  and know whether or not these tanks --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What about tanks

         14  that are on property that was owned by the City,

         15  which was leased out to private individuals?

         16                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I don't know.

         17                 Tanks leased --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The City owns

         19  the property they are on --

         20                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I know for a

         22  fact there are gas stations which have been leased

         23  out to private individuals, which it is City-owned

         24  property, which are gas stations and there are tanks

         25  existing there, and are we looking at those tanks as
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          2  well? It is on City property. It may not be under

          3  the control of an agency but it is on City property

          4  and it is the responsibility of the City if it is on

          5  City property to remediate them, isn't it?

          6                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I would think

          7  that is a question that would depend, or the answer

          8  to that question would depend on the lease agreement

          9  that was cut with those individual --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You have the

         11  Corporation Counsel here, maybe she can give an

         12  answer.

         13                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Maybe she can

         14  answer that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Excuse me. It is

         16  great to have you there, we want to ask you a

         17  question now.

         18                 Can you identify your name for the

         19  record.

         20                 MS. VANEISTEN: Inga Vaneisten.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Inga Veneisten.

         22  Thank you very much.

         23                 What we want to know is whether or

         24  not it is the responsibility of the City to

         25  remediate gas tanks which are on properties owned by
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          2  the City and leased to private corporations, such as

          3  a gas station?

          4                 MS. VANEISTEN: Under the law both

          5  owners and operators are responsible for complying

          6  with underground storage tank regulations.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And by the

          8  owner, the City being the owner?

          9                 MS. VANEISTEN: That's correct. And

         10  the State has taken the position that we are

         11  responsible for sites that we own and lease.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: In that case,

         13  Commissioner, now that you have heard the legal

         14  opinion, are you going to be looking into those

         15  tanks, to remove those tanks, whether to remediate

         16  those tanks?

         17                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I think we

         18  will have to start with, it is probably DCAS, the

         19  Department of Citywide Administrative Services to

         20  begin with them to identify the extent to which

         21  these tanks actually exist or do not exist. I think

         22  at that point even based on Council's opinion that

         23  what we need to do is also check the lease

         24  arrangements between us and those individual owners

         25  to see whose responsibility it is, and then if the
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          2  fact is that the City is responsible for addressing

          3  those, as you can see from what we have done to

          4  date, we have done the responsible thing, and the

          5  City will continue to do the responsible thing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am just saying

          7  to you that there seems to be in my opinion, and

          8  based upon what the Corporation Counsel, and I am

          9  very grateful for their answer, has said there seems

         10  to be a universe of tank out there well over and

         11  above the 614 that you now know about.

         12                 MS. VANEISTEN: If I may clarify one

         13  thing?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Sure.

         15                 MS. VANEISTEN: We don't necessarily

         16  accept that we are the primary party responsible for

         17  the contamination at those sites, but the State does

         18  have the ability to tell us to remediate.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Right. So, the

         20  state tells you to remediate, would you then go to

         21  this agency and say remediate?

         22                 MS. VANEISTEN: Well, as a factual

         23  matter, for example, if we know someone else

         24  installed the tank, and some gas station owner has

         25  been operating the facility, it would be our
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          2  position that that person is the one responsible.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And you can go

          4  after that person. But it seems to me that, for

          5  instance, there may be a site that has been

          6  abandoned for many, many years. I happen to know one

          7  in Washington Heights where there were tanks

          8  underneath the ground, it was a gas station that was

          9  abandoned and it is owned by the City, the City owns

         10  it, it is an in rem piece of property. Are you aware

         11  of all of those sites?

         12                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I can't tell

         13  you in all honesty that we are aware of all of those

         14  sites.

         15                 The fact is, if there are sites that

         16  anyone is aware of that are City-owned sites that

         17  the Law Department believes is the City's

         18  responsibility to address and our responsibility,

         19  then I assume we will again do the responsible

         20  thing.

         21                 We are trying to identify what is

         22  outside.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS:  I am just

         24  trying to, and you have been extremely cooperative,

         25  and your statement has been very helpful and you
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          2  have been very helpful to the Committee, but we,

          3  like you, have an obligation to the people of this

          4  City to see to it that they live in safe conditions,

          5  and we do know that these are dangerous tanks. So

          6  that it is important for us to marshal all of the

          7  resources we possibly can to rid ourselves or to

          8  make safe these tanks.

          9                 Now, we know that there are other

         10  tanks over and above the 614 or a means of finding

         11  it out, and there may be records in the archives and

         12  other places of where we had gas tanks, because they

         13  have to be licensed in some way to be a gas station

         14  in the City, and I think you should have somebody

         15  looking at it, maybe it is on computer for all I

         16  know. Or maybe this is something that you should

         17  take a look at and see to it that you are getting

         18  all of the particular tanks that are out there. They

         19  could be abandoned, they could be used for another

         20  purpose, but nevertheless, we don't want to find out

         21  after there is a fire and the fireman goes in there

         22  to risk their lives and all of a sudden there is a

         23  complication because they find that there was a tank

         24  and nobody knew about it and nobody remediated it.

         25                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Absolutely.
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          2  And we are doing everything possible to identify all

          3  of the sites that we are responsible for, and if the

          4  Council has any mechanism that would help us

          5  identify those, we would be more than glad to

          6  receive that information.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What I would

          8  suggest that you do, what I would suggest that you

          9  do, is perhaps go to the community boards in each

         10  community, in each district, and send them a notice

         11  asking them to make an announcement or do whatever

         12  you possible can to find out if anybody has

         13  information of where the gas stations existed or

         14  other dangerous tanks. Because I am having the same

         15  thing on hazardous materials. Not just tanks, just

         16  generally speaking, and we are trying to get people

         17  to identify so we can bring them in conformity with

         18  the law. But I think that this is something that if

         19  nothing comes out of this hearing, the fact that we

         20  are calling out to the public and to whoever has any

         21  knowledge to tell us about these tanks so we can

         22  remediate them, it would be a very important thing.

         23                 So, I really would look forward to

         24  working with you on that.

         25                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Thank you for
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          2  your recommendation and suggestion.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am just

          4  sitting here listening and it just occurred to me.

          5                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That is how

          6  some of the best ideas happen, absolutely.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am sorry, Mr.

          8  Miller, do you have any further questions? Sorry it

          9  took so long.

         10                 Mr. Miller?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: No.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Sabini?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chairman.

         15                 Commissioner Tormenta, a couple of

         16  things spring to mind and a lot of it is based on

         17  the definitions of some of the terms you used and

         18  what it really means in dollars and cents and public

         19  safety.

         20                 In your testimony you talked about

         21  the City spent $123 million to test, close, remove

         22  or upgrade approximately 1,600 gas and diesel fuel

         23  tanks, all of these tanks meet the current

         24  regulatory standards. That would be represented in

         25  this list that our staff received from State DEC?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That's

          3  correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

          5                 Now, they all meet current regulatory

          6  standards, but we don't know, you testified that on

          7  this list we don't know if there is any need for

          8  remediation. We do know in some cases, but we don't

          9  know what the scope or the cost of the remediation

         10  would be on this list; is that correct?

         11                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: In some cases

         12  you do and it is listed on there whether or not we

         13  do need remediation or not.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And we don't

         15  know the cost?

         16                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: And we do not

         17  know the cost. No, we don't.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And has the

         19  City undertaken remediation in any of the ones on

         20  this list that need remediation by your own --

         21                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: We have

         22  completed remediation at 11 sites and another 23

         23  sites are underway at this time.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: What has been

         25  the cost of that?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Approximately

          3  $10 million.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: So, the $123

          5  million you cited in closing or inspecting or making

          6  these tanks in compliance is really the tip of the

          7  proverbial iceberg, isn't it? That the remediation

          8  cost is going to be a telephone number compared to

          9  $123 million?

         10                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Probably more

         11  like your Social Security number.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. Is

         13  remediation capital eligible or do we spend expense

         14  money on this, because it was mentioned before that

         15  we have capital dollars to replace the tanks.

         16                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes, it is

         17  capital.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But what about

         19  the remediation money?

         20                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: We could

         21  probably get a better answer from bond counsel at

         22  OMB. Maybe someone is here from OMB.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Oh, you have

         24  spent --

         25                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: It is all

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            139

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  capital eligible.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: You have said

          4  you have spent money already.

          5                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Was it capital

          7  money?

          8                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: It was capital

          9  eligible.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. And was

         11  that -- you cited part of the $123 million figure --

         12                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Which figure?

         13  I am sorry.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Remediation

         15  dollars for $10 million.

         16                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes, that was

         17  part of the $123 million.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: That was part

         19  of the $123 million.

         20                 RCRA passed in '84, EPA issued

         21  regulations in '88 to have leak detection devices

         22  put onto these tanks prior t remediation or

         23  inspection by '93, that was six years ago. Has the

         24  City done that?

         25                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes, we are
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          2  now in compliance on those 1,600 tanks.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: When were you

          4  in compliance as of?

          5                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: We are in

          6  compliance as of today. I mean, every time we went

          7  into a tank on all 1,600 tanks, every time we

          8  address the facility or we address the tank, we

          9  tested the tank, if the tank needed to be upgraded,

         10  we upgraded the tank. That meant putting in the

         11  detection systems, it mean in some cases replacing

         12  the tank, we did not do it piecemeal, we went in and

         13  did the entire upgrading for the tank.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: When were the

         15  leak detection devices all in place that you were in

         16  compliance, at what time?

         17                 I know you are in demand now, when

         18  did that happen? When did now commence?

         19                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I guess the

         20  answer to that is that we don't know exactly at what

         21  point in time we had all of the tanks that required

         22  leak detection in place that we had leak detection

         23  systems installed in all of those tanks.

         24                 As we went along we installed it. At

         25  what point all tanks that needed it had it, we did
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          2  not track that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Now, the 614

          4  on this list have no leak detection devices on them?

          5                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: We don't know.

          6  As part of the survey that we are conducting that I

          7  was referring to that we will be finished by the end

          8  of this spring, it is possible that some of those

          9  tanks have been installed since the new regulations

         10  came into place, they would have been installed

         11  possibly not by us, so we would not have those

         12  records, but by the individual agencies, and those

         13  tanks may very well be in compliance, in full

         14  compliance with the EPA or with the State regs,

         15  depending on when they were installed. We don't know

         16  that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You don't find

         18  out from those agencies when they were installed?

         19                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: We find that

         20  these types of issues, if we dealing with regulatory

         21  matters, if we are dealing with potential finds at

         22  the end of the day, that the way we like to handle

         23  this is that once we have this preliminary inventory

         24  of the tanks, then we send in our engineers to look

         25  at the tanks and to make those types of assessments,
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          2  rather than hoping that the individual who is a

          3  facilities manager at each -- and this is in no way

          4  trying to diminish or a derogatory comment on their

          5  capacity or their capabilities, but we would like to

          6  have our engineers who understand what the

          7  regulations are go in and do the appropriate survey.

          8                 So, we do not know at this point.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: In other words,

         10  you are just happy to find out where they exist?

         11                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: We want to

         12  know where they exist, and then we go in and receive

         13  their condition.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I mean, again,

         15  you know, there is no level for the exasperation I

         16  achieve sitting at this desk sometimes.

         17                 The leak detection devices were

         18  supposed to be in place by 1993, and there are still

         19  at least 600 tanks that we don't know if they are in

         20  or not. They might be, they might not.

         21                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That's

         22  correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

         24                 So, again, I keep repeating this, the

         25  law was passed in '84, the regulations promulgated
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          2  in '88, local governments had all kinds of extra

          3  time to comply, compared to businesses, the large

          4  businesses, and yet we sit here in '99 and we are

          5  still sort of getting to it and getting to it.

          6                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Well, if I

          7  may, getting to it means that we have gotten to 75

          8  percent of them, so getting to it has been quite a

          9  feat. Needless to say, we are not finished, and that

         10  is obvious, because of the 600 tanks, we have

         11  reached 75 percent compliance, we have spent a huge

         12  amount of money and that money competes with many

         13  other needs, as you all know.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Commissioner,

         15  I have lots of confidence in your ability as a

         16  public servant, but the compliance doesn't include

         17  remediation at this point when you say 75 percent

         18  are in compliance.

         19                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That's

         20  correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Seventy-five

         22  percent that are in compliance, they are either

         23  closed or they have been tested or they have a leak

         24  detection device, we have remediated a fraction of a

         25  percent. So, I mean to say compliance makes it
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          2  sounds like everything is honky dory and it is not.

          3                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: No, no.

          4  Because our definition of compliance means, and

          5  which it also means to UPA and it means to the state

          6  and all individuals that are involved in this

          7  program, that compliance, if you are talking about

          8  compliance with remediation, compliance with

          9  remediation may not be reached for decades.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I understand

         11  that.

         12                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: And that is

         13  because to try to decontaminate underground fuel

         14  spills is, first of all it is somewhat of an

         15  emerging science, and there is new technologies

         16  coming about, and what today could take ten years to

         17  do, in two years from now could very well take two

         18  years, based on the technology.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I understand.

         20                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: So the

         21  remediation program, and EPA, as far as I understand

         22  it, never expected anyone to have full remediation

         23  of their sites complied with by December of 1998.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: That's

         25  correct.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: So when I say

          3  we are in compliance, we are in compliance with what

          4  EPA and the State require us to do.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: You are right,

          6  but there is something wrong when the private sector

          7  is way ahead of our own City government on this,

          8  that is what bothers me a little.

          9                 Let me ask Ms. Vaneisten, let's say

         10  that a City-owned tank is found to have leaked, do

         11  we close it down right away?

         12                 MS. VANEISTEN: It is actually more of

         13  a technical question that an engineer --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I suspect the

         15  answer is not. And the reason I ask that is, we have

         16  fuel suppliers, now New York City is the big cahuna

         17  purchaser so that we can sort of dictate the market,

         18  but in the case of some of the private companies,

         19  you know, the ABC gas stations, in some cases the

         20  supplier, based on your earlier testimony, has

         21  stopped supplying stations that have been known to

         22  have a problem because of the pass on of the

         23  liability.

         24                 It would seem to me that if we know

         25  we have a problem then there are alternative means
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          2  of fueling that if we could gas vehicles up at a

          3  different City-owned tank or even a private station,

          4  that we would do that. Does the Law Department

          5  advise that at any point?

          6                 MS. VANEISTEN: I am sorry, it is not

          7  clear to me what you are saying. I am not aware of

          8  any instances where the City has permitted the

          9  continued use of a tank that it knows is leaking, if

         10  that is the question.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: So you are

         12  saying that as soon as the City finds out a tank is

         13  leaking, that day it is closed down and we never

         14  fill it up again?

         15                 I find that hard --

         16                 MS. VANEISTEN: I believe the

         17  regulations require the closing within 72 hours.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: The reason I

         19  find that hard to believe is we have City-owned

         20  tanks that are leaking and we didn't close a lot of

         21  them right away. So, I mean maybe there are other

         22  people that can testify, but it would seem to me the

         23  public interest would be better served if we bought

         24  gasoline or fuel oil or whatever product we are

         25  buying out of those tanks somewhere else
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          2  immediately.

          3                 MS. VANEISTEN: I am still not aware

          4  of any tanks that are leaking that we have not

          5  closed.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

          7                 MS. VANEISTEN: And I am not sure what

          8  you are referring to.

          9                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Once we are

         10  knowledgeable of the fact that the tanks are

         11  leaking, based on either our testing protocol, or

         12  based on some sort of a notice that we are given

         13  from any part, the tank is closed down, is shut

         14  down.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. Give me

         16  an example of one that was closed.

         17                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Give you one

         18  example of what was closed?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: One of them

         20  that was closed, a police station, sanitation, that

         21  a tank was closed.

         22                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: If you want to

         23  refer to the chart that was given to you, any tank

         24  that was found to have been leaking was closed when

         25  we found it to have been leaking, so it is all of
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          2  those tanks.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Where do we

          4  send the vehicles to be gased up then?

          5                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I am sorry?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Where would we

          7  send the vehicles to be gased up?

          8                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: They would be

          9  sent either to another precinct, they might be sent

         10  to a firehouse to gas up, they might be sent to a

         11  Sanitation garage, they might be sent to any -- they

         12  may be part of the gas card system the City has and

         13  they might be sent to a private facility.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right. I mean,

         15  it wasn't an adversarial question, I know we have a

         16  gas card system, I was just wondering if it was

         17  being used.

         18                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Absolutely.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: The last

         20  question for the Law Department, and I see there is

         21  someone from the Fire Department here, my

         22  understanding is the Fire Department drafted

         23  regulations on tanks back in 1994 or something like

         24  that, and yet those regs were never promulgated, do

         25  you know why?
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          2                 MS. VANEISTEN: No, I am sorry. I am

          3  going to have to refer your question to the Fire

          4  Department to answer.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay, thank

          6  you.

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I just want to

          9  say for the people who are listening to this, we are

         10  just talking about as far as your jurisdiction is

         11  concerned, is City-owned facilities?

         12                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: That's

         13  correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And that there

         15  are probably many more privately-owned facilities

         16  out there than City-owned facilities --

         17                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I would think

         18  thousands.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You could say we

         20  are not even scratching the surface of the

         21  possibilities here. But when you are doing your job

         22  and if you should come across a facility that you

         23  know has a problem which is not a City-owned

         24  facility, because you are out there looking around,

         25  do you refer those to -- what agency would you refer
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          2  those to?

          3                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: We would refer

          4  them to DEC. If we were to find that there is

          5  contamination in an area where we have done testing

          6  of our tanks, for instance and we found that there

          7  was ground contamination for some reason or other,

          8  then that would be referred to both DEP and it would

          9  be referred to DEC as well.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And you have had

         11  situations like that?

         12                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: I don't know

         13  personally that we have had. Actually the 111th

         14  Precinct in Queens had a situation.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What has the

         16  experience been as far as the responsiveness to the

         17  state to that information?

         18                 MR. MARINO: They have been very

         19  helpful in working with us to set up the correct

         20  protocol for the clean-up, and what happens is once

         21  there is a multiple --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What about the

         23  source?

         24                 MR. MARINO: Once there is a multiple

         25  source like that, the state then takes over and then
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          2  they have to --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I know what they

          4  are supposed to do, but do they do it?

          5                 We have a situation here where the

          6  state is not doing what we think they should be

          7  doing, and that is passing the necessary legislation

          8  so that they can help enforce the federal

          9  legislation here.

         10                 Now, I want to know whether the State

         11  is doing that or not, and what they are going to do

         12  is come down and enforce their own regulations

         13  because that is their only jurisdiction. And you

         14  enforce the City regulations, I guess it is DEP who

         15  has to enforce the City regulations.

         16                 MR. MARINO: I don't know whether the

         17  State is following up on --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I just want to

         19  know if they are being responsive on this.

         20                 Lastly, I guess I can ask you as

         21  well, you now understand the issue more than anyone

         22  else of maybe the people from DEP as well. Are you

         23  bringing it to the attention of the people for the

         24  Administration how we have to pressure the State to

         25  pass -- because we do agree that you have got to get
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          2  the State to pass the necessary legislation so that

          3  we can have the State doing the enforcement of the

          4  federal regulations aren't you?

          5                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: If you learned

          7  that here today, eight is not enough to do the whole

          8  region. So, we do need it, and so we all really have

          9  to be working together to make sure that some

         10  pressure is brought in Albany. This is not a

         11  political issue, this is a matter of an issue of

         12  government and good government, and we really need

         13  that legislation up there and we can't afford to

         14  have them sit around and not get it through.  So I

         15  think we all have to work together to do that and I

         16  really appreciate your support on that, and bring it

         17  to the attention of those people that it has to be

         18  brought attention to.

         19                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So thank you for

         21  your coming in today.

         22                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Very good.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And we may have

         24  you back, and keep us informed with what is

         25  happening with what you are doing.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Absolutely.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Because we are

          4  really partners in government on this one.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Very good.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I appreciate it,

          9  and it is a pleasure to have you here before the

         10  Committee for the first time, as to all of you.

         11                 COMMISSIONER TORMENTA: Very good.

         12  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Next we have the

         14  Fire Department and representatives of the

         15  Department of Environmental Protection. Gentlemen,

         16  join us. The day is getting late. After that our

         17  last witness, I think it is our last witness.

         18                 MR. GENNARO: Two more.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Two more

         20  witnesses, it will be the famous Cathy Kenny,

         21  Associate Director of the New York State Petroleum

         22  Council, and James McPartlin. No relation to the

         23  famous musician Marian McPartlin.

         24                 Gentlemen, welcome.

         25                 MR. BASIL: Good afternoon, Mr.
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          2  Chairman, members of the Council, I am Julian Basil.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you want DEP

          4  to join you, or do you want to do your own thing?

          5                 MR. BASIL: I am not aware --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What agency are

          7  you from?

          8                 MR. BASIL: We are from the Fire

          9  Department.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You are from the

         11  Fire Department. All right, let's do it this way.

         12                 MR. BASIL: My name is Julian Basil.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Uniformed

         14  agencies like to be a little separate, we understand

         15  that.

         16                 MR. BASIL: I am Julian Basil, Counsel

         17  to the Fire Department. With me is Chief Harold

         18  Meyers, who is our Chief of Technology Management

         19  with our Bureau of Fire Prevention, and James

         20  Hanson, who is our Chief Engineer, also from the

         21  Bureau of Fire Prevention.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you for

         23  your patience in waiting this long, we appreciate

         24  it.

         25                 MR. BASIL: That's quite all right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We consider this

          3  a very important issue.

          4                 MR. BASIL: That's right. We were not

          5  asked to prepare any testimony, we understood that

          6  the Committee might have some questions that we

          7  might be able to answer and address them and so we

          8  are ready to answer any questions you might have.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, first of

         10  all, let me ask you whether or not there is anything

         11  that you have heard prior, you were sitting here all

         12  afternoon, that you would like to comment on?

         13  Anything that you have heard?

         14                 MR. BASIL: Well, obviously the Fire

         15  Department's primary mission is fire safety and that

         16  is our focus, a lot of the issues here are very

         17  important and obviously great public concern, but

         18  not necessarily the Fire Department's principle area

         19  of responsibility.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Remediation is

         21  not, but you do recognize there is a risk and I

         22  guess the fire officer here could tell us what the

         23  danger is to firemen who are fighting a fire where

         24  they don't know what the situation is, as far as the

         25  tanks in compliance with the law. Tell us the risks
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          2  to both the public and to fire officers fighting a

          3  fire.

          4                 CHIEF MEYERS: (Not identified) if we

          5  are talking about underground tanks --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That's right.

          7                 CHIEF MEYERS: The risk would evolve

          8  where the tanks leak either into a subway station or

          9  an underground tunnel or maybe an adjoining cellar

         10  or something, but strictly underground we are not

         11  dealing with a great fire risk here because we don't

         12  have an ignition source usually.

         13                 The issues are where it leaks to.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: There is a

         15  danger, if it leaks into a building that is on fire,

         16  then you are going to have a real problem.

         17                 CHIEF MEYERS: That's correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And we are not

         19  only just talking about oil or gasoline, there are

         20  other substances that are held in tanks which can be

         21  dangerous.

         22                 CHIEF MEYERS: That's correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I asked a

         24  question earlier about the rules drafted by the Fire

         25  Department. The latest copy I have dates back to
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          2  1998 and my understanding is it has been kicking

          3  around for a long time, why weren't those rules

          4  every promulgated?

          5                 MR. BASIL: Let me just tell you what

          6  I know about it. Obviously this issue has been a

          7  subject of great discussion with regard to

          8  installation of motor fuel storage and dispensing

          9  equipment.

         10                 I think what happened, and when I got

         11  involved in the picture, it was clear that although

         12  there had been the rules drafted, it was a real

         13  statutory authority problem.

         14                 The New York City Fire Prevention

         15  Code was adopted in many cases decades ago. There

         16  are terms in the relevant provisions of the code

         17  dealing with things such as wagons and air ships and

         18  things of that sort. A lot of the requirements in

         19  the Fire Code are outdated and are inconsistent with

         20  new current federal and state regulations.

         21                 What we have done is we have drafted

         22  new legislation as part of an ongoing overall code

         23  revision to address the outdated provisions of the

         24  Code and specifically we have been working on the

         25  subchapter dealing with motor fuel storage and
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          2  dispensing equipment and service stations and

          3  elsewhere.

          4                 We have completed a draft of a bill

          5  and we plan to have it submitted before the next

          6  Stated Council meeting, and that bill will

          7  essentially completely revise the subchapter, it

          8  will reorganize it, it will take out a lot of the

          9  outdated requirements. Our plan then, and consistent

         10  with the goal of establishing basic standards,

         11  requirements, prohibitions in the Code, with all the

         12  technical details in rule so they can be kept more

         13  current as technology advances. So, what we have

         14  also done during this period of time is that we have

         15  developed draft rules, which are also in final form,

         16  subject obviously to comment publication for notice

         17  for public comment, we have draft rules also ready

         18  to go, but they do need to await legislative action

         19  to clean up the Fire Prevention Code and we are

         20  ready now to proceed with that legislation and you

         21  will be seeing it shortly, as well as a memorandum

         22  in support which will lay out all of the changes

         23  that we are proposing.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I find it an

         25  amazing coincidence, you are going to submit this
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          2  before the next Stated Council Meeting after this

          3  hearing.

          4                 MR. BASIL: Well, can I just point

          5  out, we had hoped to come to the Council earlier

          6  with the bill, and it was on our legislative agenda

          7  for the fall, but the last few months the Fire

          8  Department has been extremely busy. I mean, I

          9  personally have been working, in addition to my

         10  other responsibilities basically full-time on the

         11  residential sprinkler legislation, which as you know

         12  just came to a head in the Committee meeting, and so

         13  this unfortunately we would have liked to have

         14  brought it up sooner but it had to take a back seat

         15  to that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I think it is

         17  always important that we note irony in things.

         18                 However, I have a memorandum dated

         19  April 12th, 1996 from Chief Cunningham, that says

         20  attached there is a copy of draft regulations which

         21  effective immediately shall be used for the

         22  installation and testing of underground liquid motor

         23  fuel storage tanks.

         24                 MR. BASIL: Well, I think what -- I

         25  haven't seen that memo, I think what the former
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          2  Chief of Fire Prevention was referring to is that

          3  the way that the Fire Department has been dealing

          4  with applications is that to the extent possible

          5  under the current rules and code sections they have

          6  been able to grant permits for new installations. As

          7  I understand it, from what I have been told, the

          8  people who are filing the applications now would be

          9  in compliance with federal and state regulations.

         10  Obviously they don't want to put in equipment that

         11  might be in compliance with the City code but

         12  obviously not in compliance with federal and state

         13  code.

         14                 However, and this is an important

         15  however, there are certain aspects of the

         16  applications that are not consistent with current

         17  code provisions. They have to do with tank size and

         18  capacity and location. And the way that the Fire

         19  Department has done this, in order to work with

         20  industry and to facilitate the important public

         21  goals of federal and state legislation, is we have

         22  been granting waivers, variances from the code which

         23  we do have the authority under the Fire Prevention

         24  Code to do so. We have been granting variances in

         25  those circumstances where consistent with the
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          2  requirements of the code that is consistent with

          3  where the variance would be consistent with public

          4  safety.

          5                 As a condition to granting a variance

          6  of this nature, we have said that you must comply

          7  with what are essentially draft rules, and that is

          8  sort of the way that we have been able to do this

          9  while we were developing the legislation and

         10  cleaning up the statute.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Your agency

         12  issues the certificates of approval on these tanks,

         13  correct?

         14                 MR. BASIL: I believe that is correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. Now, do

         16  you issue certificates of approval to other City

         17  agencies with these tanks?

         18                 MR. HANSON: (Not identified) the

         19  certificate of approval is issued to the

         20  manufacturer of the tank. It would not be issued to

         21  any individual person who is going to install the

         22  tank.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: So, it is not

         24  the owner of the land, it is to the manufacturer of

         25  the tank?
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          2                 MR. HANSON: That's correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: In the

          4  regulations in the legislation that you are talking

          5  about, who is going to have the enforcement power on

          6  these regulations? The Fire Department?

          7                 MR. BASIL: Yes, these would be Fire

          8  Department regulations that we would enforce.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And in what

         10  way would you enforce those regulations on other

         11  City agencies, since where the City as an entity is

         12  the largest tank holder?

         13                 CHIEF MEYERS: We would enforce them

         14  on City agencies the way we would enforce upon

         15  anybody who applied for an application, and we

         16  current are, Police Department installations,

         17  Sanitation installations, they have been coming to

         18  us since '96, and they have been complying with

         19  those regulations.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Because it

         21  seems to me that very often the City not only is the

         22  worst offender of the law in many cases, we also

         23  look the other way.

         24                 For example, and I don't know if the

         25  Chair is aware of this, many of our City school
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          2  buildings don't have occupancy certificates, because

          3  if they did they would have to close because there

          4  are too many kids in them. That was a decision that

          5  was issued, you know, tacitly made a long time ago.

          6  I found it amazing to find that City-owned buildings

          7  don't have occupancy levels in them. But if we did

          8  we would have a crisis in education, we do have a

          9  crisis in education.

         10                 Since the Fire Department is one of

         11  the leading entities on the list of 1,600 here, what

         12  are you doing about your own tanks?

         13                 CHIEF MEYERS: I haven't seen the list

         14  that you are referring to, but we have a major

         15  capital --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I am sure

         17  Commissioner Tormenta's people can give it to you.

         18                 CHIEF MEYERS: Yes, I will.

         19                 We have a major capital expenditure

         20  ongoing where we have replaced many of our tanks and

         21  we are in the process of replacing probably anything

         22  that is an offending tank.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

         24                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes, so I would
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          2  like to get your jurisdiction straight.

          3                 Someone wants to install a gasoline

          4  tank, they have to come to you, right?

          5                 MR. BASIL: That's correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And what do you

          7  do for them?

          8                 MR. HANSON: Actually before they come

          9  to the Fire Department they file an application with

         10  the Department of Buildings for a work permit.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay.

         12                 MR. HANSON: The Department of

         13  Buildings refers them to the Fire Department because

         14  we have the installation standards for the

         15  equipment. We review the plan, the plan is

         16  acceptable, we inform them that it is acceptable. We

         17  proceed with construction, witness various stages of

         18  construction. When it is completed we sign off the

         19  job, we notify --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That includes

         21  the tank itself?

         22                 MR. HANSON: That's correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And the

         24  pertinences to the tank?

         25                 MR. HANSON: Exactly.
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          2                 The entire installation, you know,

          3  from the time they pour the bottom slab, digging the

          4  excavation --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That includes

          6  detection devices and all these other devices --

          7                 MR. HANSON: That's correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That are now

          9  required by both the feds, State and the City?

         10                 MR. HANSON: That's correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So, in other

         12  words, they have to, for you to sign off then you

         13  would now be looking at the new federal law, the law

         14  that just went -- so they have to comply completely?

         15                 MR. HANSON: When we sign off a job,

         16  our intention and the inspector's instructions are

         17  it should comply with federal, State and City

         18  regulations.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Now, do you have

         20  any relationship with older tanks, other than the

         21  Fire Department's own tanks?

         22                 MR. BASIL: I am not sure I understand

         23  the question.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What if you come

         25  across a tank that is out of compliance, it is
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          2  leaking, the course of your duties, the fire marshal

          3  is out there inspecting and he sees that if there is

          4  a fire here, and next to the adjoining piece of

          5  property there is a tank that seems to be leaking?

          6                 CHIEF MEYERS: We would immediately

          7  issue an order to discontinue the use of the tank

          8  and provide testing, and if it was a repair, repair

          9  or removal.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Even if it is a

         11  privately-owned tank?

         12                 CHIEF MEYERS: Absolutely.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The remediation,

         14  you would then make sure that it is remediated?

         15                 CHIEF MEYERS: Correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And would they

         17  have to come to you then to reinstall the tank, if

         18  they remediate the tank, in order to lift the order?

         19                 CHIEF MEYERS: To install a new tank

         20  would be just the same as a new tank installation.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes.

         22                 Yes, sir?

         23                 MR. BASIL: Let me just clarify. I

         24  mean, we are not involved in the environmental

         25  remediation. We would correct the tank. The fire
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          2  safety hazard, you know, make sure the tank is

          3  repaired or replaced, and the other issues are not

          4  within our enforcement.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The damage that

          6  was done as a result of the leaking tank would not

          7  be under your jurisdiction?

          8                 MR. BASIL: Yes. I mean, my

          9  understanding is that when there is such a condition

         10  these are reported to the various environmental

         11  agencies and they are aware of it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It is reported,

         13  thoroughly reported to everyone involved?

         14                 CHIEF MEYERS: That's correct. That is

         15  part of our procedure, to notify EPA.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: This is a ultra

         17  hazardous situation.

         18                 CHIEF MEYERS: That is part of our

         19  procedure, to notify EPA.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay. And then

         21  you sign off on the tank when it has been installed

         22  and has all these devices, the detection devices and

         23  the different ways of testing, and are you fully

         24  familiar with all of the federal regulations that

         25  were talked about here by the EPA?
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          2                 CHIEF MEYERS: We are, yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you do any

          4  inspection of existing tanks, existing gasoline

          5  tanks?

          6                 CHIEF MEYERS: Yes, we do. There is a

          7  ten-year test on the tank and there is a two-year

          8  test on the discharge piping.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So all of the

         10  tanks within the City of New York, gasoline, are

         11  tested by the Department on a regular basis?

         12                 CHIEF MEYERS: That's correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So have you been

         14  in touch with the previous agency, Commissioner

         15  Tormenta, to inform him, make sure your list of the

         16  existing tanks conform to his list of existing

         17  tanks?

         18                 CHIEF MEYERS: Have we been in touch

         19  with him to make sure out list conforms with his?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Make sure -- or

         21  is he in touch with you? It seems to me you probably

         22  have a superior knowledge of the existing tanks in

         23  the City of New York.

         24                 CHIEF MEYERS: If I recall his

         25  testimony, I seem to remember, he said he came to
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          2  all the City agencies asking us for our list, I

          3  don't know whether or not that is correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Can you check on

          5  that for us?

          6                 MR. BASIL: I can, yes.

          7                 The people at this table aren't

          8  really the people that are dealing with department's

          9  own building and maintenance --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I understand

         11  that. I am not --

         12                 MR. BASIL: But it is my

         13  understanding, I know that I am aware there have

         14  been meetings with DEC and Fire Department

         15  representatives, a representative from our Building

         16  Department rather than our Fire Prevention

         17  Department, that to discuss compliance issues.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So, what I

         19  wanted to just make sure, because we are in an

         20  effort to try to -- we are looking to see if we can

         21  all work together, and if you have some knowledge

         22  they should have, of course they only deal with the

         23  City-owned facilities, City-owned underground

         24  storage tanks, so I would really appreciate if we

         25  could be told, because they are not here now -- is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            170

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  there anybody here from the agency? If we could be

          3  told that they are coordinating their activities

          4  with you.

          5                 MR. BASIL: I know they are. I know

          6  they are coordinating, it is just that these aren't

          7  the individuals that are doing that aspect of this

          8  issue. But they are coordinating and there have been

          9  meetings and they are working together with using

         10  our records and whatever information that we are

         11  able to provide.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And the

         13  situation being that DEP, because of the fact that

         14  the state doesn't comply with the federal law, that

         15   -- the EPA, I am sorry -- EPA now has to enforce,

         16  are you coordinating your activities in informing

         17  EPA of the existence of all of the tanks that you

         18  know so they can do the work that has to be done

         19  here?

         20                 MR. BASIL: My understanding --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We have somebody

         22  from EPA here, but it seems to me you are the source

         23  of a lot of knowledge on these underground storage

         24  tanks.

         25                 MR. BASIL: My understanding, and
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          2  based on the prior testimony today, is that DDC is

          3  coordinating those issues for the City, so we would

          4  be working with DDC and DDC would be acting as the

          5  point of contact. That is my understanding, again, I

          6  am not personally involved in that process.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: DEC is not

          8  involved in the enforcement of the federal law,

          9  because they haven't passed the necessary enabling

         10  legislation in Albany. The enforcement is now done

         11  by EPA. So I think the agency that is now doing it

         12  is the EPA, and Region 2 EPA most specifically, of

         13  which you have a representative here, and I would

         14  like to know whether or not you are cooperating with

         15  them? I assume you are.

         16                 MR. BASIL: Well, first in answer to

         17  what you said, I thought you were referring to the

         18  City's own tanks, you are talking now about a larger

         19  issue.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Your

         21  jurisdiction is not only the City's tanks, but all

         22  the private tanks completely in the City.

         23                 MR. BASIL: No, I thought you were

         24  following up on your prior question.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Sorry for that.
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          2                 MR. BASIL: Obviously, when we receive

          3  applications for new tanks, you know, we are making

          4  every effort within the constraints of the law and

          5  our present legal situation to apply all the

          6  applicable federal and state standards.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That you have

          8  already testified to, and I am satisfied with that

          9  answer.

         10                 MR. BASIL: Right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But I want to

         12  know is whether or not your knowledge of the

         13  existence of underground storage tanks in the City

         14  of New York, which you inspect even after you

         15  license them to exist, so you should know, you

         16  should have the superior knowledge of where the

         17  existence of all of the underground storage tanks in

         18  the City of New York, and I want to know whether or

         19  not that information has been getting to EPA to

         20  enable them, because of the state of the law right

         21  now, to enforce the federal law with their eight

         22  inspectors.

         23                 MR. BASIL: I honestly don't know

         24  whether or not we have --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, if you can
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          2  find it out for me.

          3                 MR. BASIL: I will say that DEC is

          4  active in regulating in this area, and --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They are not

          6  now, now it is EPA.

          7                 MR. BASIL: In permitting and, you

          8  know, permitting tanks --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: EPA is now in

         10  charge of compliance with the federal law, and

         11  therefore they have to have the means to do that,

         12  and the means to do that is knowledge. Knowledge is

         13  power, you have heard that, and they have to have

         14  that knowledge to go ahead and see to it that the

         15  law is being complied with until DEC takes that

         16  over.

         17                 MR. BASIL: Well, obviously we will be

         18  glad to talk to EPA on this.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Good. I will be

         20  very happy if they reported back to me to tell me

         21  that you are working with them, and I assume that

         22  you will.

         23                 Mr. Sabini.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you.

         25                 As I said at the earlier panel, it is
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          2  all in the definitions.

          3                 You inspect tanks, you do a two-year

          4  test and a ten-year test, is that what you said?

          5                 CHIEF MEYERS: Two-year test on a

          6  discharge piping. We do a ten-year test on the

          7  actual tank.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

          9                 Now, the test you do, does that test

         10  --

         11                 CHIEF MEYERS: We witness the test. I

         12  am sorry, we don't do the test, we witness it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Who does the

         14  test?

         15                 CHIEF MEYERS: The test is done by a

         16  tank installer, a licensed person.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. Now, you

         18  obviously have a check list or some form that you

         19  fill out when you witness this test. Do those --

         20  does your criteria in witnessing the test match the

         21  EPA criteria?

         22                 MR. HANSON: It does. About ten years

         23  ago or so we actually had a test that the state was

         24  not happy with. We did an air on top of the product

         25  test, ten pounds, and they were not happy with that.
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          2  And then in 1988 the Fire Department adopted a new

          3  rule which allowed for what is called precision

          4  testing, and that is a test that doesn't put any

          5  pressure on the tank but uses different types of

          6  technology to determine whether there are any leaks

          7  with the tanks, as I said since '88 we have allowed

          8  for precision tests, which is consistent with what

          9  New York State says is the proper way to test for

         10  tank leaks.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Is that a more

         12  stringent test?

         13                 MR. HANSON: Is it more stringent?

         14  Actually the State says yes. The State says that our

         15  tests --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And your

         17  regulations they are more stringent than the State's

         18  regulations?

         19                 MR. HANSON: No, they are not more

         20  stringent, they are consistent with the State's

         21  regulations now. Prior to '88 the State position was

         22  that the City's test was not as stringent as the

         23  State's.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So yelling

         25  preemption.
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          2                 MR. HANSON: They didn't put it that

          3  way.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Sabini,

          5  anything further?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Yes.

          7                 Your ten-year test on the tank, or

          8  that the private concern conducts, the cycle then is

          9  ten years, is every tank in the City tested then

         10  every ten years by the Fire Department?

         11                 MR. HANSON: We issue an annual permit

         12  for every underground storage tank that is

         13  flammable, combustible, including gasoline.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Including ones

         15  that are City agencies?

         16                 MR. HANSON: That's correct. As long

         17  as they file with us, and we are aware of it, we

         18  will go back every year and issue a permit.

         19                 When the cycle is ten years up, the

         20  Fire Department, if they haven't submitted evidence

         21  that they have conducted a ten-year test, the Fire

         22  Department will issue a violation or to the owner of

         23  the tank telling them to test the tank.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Do you issue

         25  violation orders to other City agencies?
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          2                 MR. HANSON: We do.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Have you

          4  issued any to yourself? That sounds silly, but you

          5  have got a lot of tanks.

          6                 MR. HANSON: We have.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: You have,

          8  okay. That wasn't so tough.

          9                 What about the list of 614 that the

         10  Law Department has fessed up to EPA that doesn't

         11  know enough about; have you tested any of those 614?

         12                 MR. BASIL: Again, I think the people

         13  at this table are not involved, that is the City's

         14  own compliance issue, but we are not the people

         15  involved with that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But you said

         17  you test them. You test your own tanks.

         18                 MR. BASIL: We may well have. We are

         19  talking motor fuel?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Yes.

         21                 MR. HANSON: The ten-year test that

         22  the Fire Department requires underground tanks --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I am sorry, I

         24  can't hear the answer. What was that?

         25                 MR. HANSON: The ten-year test that
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          2  the Fire Department requires for underground tanks

          3  is limited by the code only to motor fuel storage

          4  tanks.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right. Okay,

          6  and a lot of these are motor fuel. This list is all

          7  motor fuel, but this list is not. Okay.

          8                 When you issue a violation to a City

          9  agency, what happens then? A notice of violation.

         10  Obviously you are not going to fine another City

         11  agency, what happens? What compels the manager of

         12  that particular depot, or the appropriate person at

         13  the agency to --

         14                 CHIEF MEYERS: When we give a

         15  violation to another City agency or a notice of

         16  violation, I believe on a quarterly basis those are

         17  taken over to the Mayor's Office, the Mayor's Office

         18  has an interagency meeting, and the agency is asked

         19  what are you doing to comply with this.

         20                 And you know, under extraordinary

         21  circumstances, we can issue a summons to another

         22  City agency.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Has it

         24  happened?

         25                 CHIEF MEYERS: Has it ever happened? I
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          2  can't answer that. Not in my recollection. Usually

          3  we correct it before that.

          4                 MR. BASIL: Our goal obviously is to

          5  work with the City agencies to ensure that they are

          6  complying with our rules and regulations. You know,

          7  taking the people of the City of New York to court

          8  isn't really the most effective way we think to

          9  accomplish that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Understood.

         11  But, again, we should be the best citizens since we

         12  promulgate the rule.

         13                 Now, you only inspect in fuel oil

         14  tanks, correct? That is what you testified to

         15  earlier? Motor fuel?

         16                 MR. HANSON: We require a ten-year

         17  test for motor fuel tanks.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Well, on the

         19  list that the Law Department submitted to the DEP,

         20  there are a bunch of tanks that the Fire Department

         21  maintained that have waste oil or are looked at as

         22  an emergency generator with diesel fuel. Now, you

         23  don't test those? You require to test, you don't

         24  actually test them yourself.

         25                 MR. HANSON: Waste oil tanks, we don't
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          2  do a ten-year test on those tanks.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right. You

          4  made that clear, okay.

          5                 But yet, the City Law Department is

          6  admitting that the compliance at these locations,

          7  and I believe there are 12 of them within the Fire

          8  Department's jurisdiction, are fair to say

          9  compliance is murky at this point, we don't know if

         10  they are complied with or not. What are you doing

         11  about those?

         12                 MR. BASIL: Again, the people at this

         13  table are not the right people to answer that

         14  question.

         15                 We were told there were going to be

         16  questions --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: DDC would

         18  answer that?

         19                 MR. BASIL: DDC or another Fire

         20  Department representative, because we were here, we

         21  have a Building Unit, we were asked to come here and

         22  talk about the rules.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. If I

         24  didn't ask the question you are from the Fire

         25  Department I wouldn't be happy.
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          2                 Okay, thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Are there any

          4  other questions? We appreciate it, we want to

          5  continue a relationship in working with you on this

          6  issue. You gave us some wonderful answers which we

          7  feel were very helpful, we appreciate it.

          8                 MR. BASIL: Thank you very much, Mr.

          9  Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Keep in touch

         11  with us.

         12                 The next witness is DEP.

         13                 Welcome. Thank you for waiting.

         14                 Would you please identify yourselves

         15  for the record.

         16                 COMMISSIONER STASIUK: I am Bill

         17  Stasiuk, Deputy Commissioner for Water Supply

         18  Quality and Protection Upstate.

         19                 MR. HOFFER: My name is Mark Hoffer, I

         20  am the General Counsel of DEP.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER TAZZY: I am Louis

         22  Tazzy, Deputy Commissioner for Management and

         23  Budget, DEP.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you have a

         25  statement for us? No. Is there anything that you
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          2  would like to comment on in what you have heard

          3  today?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: There

          5  are several concerns about the impact about

          6  petroleum underground storage tanks in the

          7  watershed, and if I could address some of those

          8  issues, if you have some specific questions. I think

          9  in general what I would say is I think you have

         10  heard us testify before that we monitor quite

         11  frequently for organics, volatile organics at 17 key

         12  points within the City, as well as doing periodic

         13  surveys in the watershed, and with regard to the

         14  watershed, we just don't see petroleum, gasoline, as

         15  anything that finds its way into the drinking water.

         16                 We are aware of spills from time to

         17  time up in the watershed, we coordinate with local

         18  fire departments who have spill responsibilities

         19  with the State Department of Environmental

         20  Conservation that has responsibilities for cleaning

         21  up petroleum sites as well as any kind of a spill,

         22  and we are aware of incidents that occur where you

         23  may have a large gasoline tank in a gas station.

         24  There was one incident we became aware of it because

         25  the local water supply that had well water, and this
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          2  is well up in the watershed on the Croton side,

          3  their drinking water became contaminated and we got

          4  involved with how to deal with the water that was in

          5  the system and then DEC started, and so we monitored

          6  the situation very carefully to make sure that we

          7  weren't seeing any kind of levels moving down to the

          8  reservoirs.

          9                 So, we are general on top of it, we

         10  don't see it as a major problem, but that doesn't

         11  stop us from responding to individual spills.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Let me just say,

         13  first of all I should reveal that you and I both

         14  serve on the

         15  Watershed Partnership Council having to do with the

         16  watershed, but there are other types of substances

         17  which are kept in storage tanks other than gasoline

         18  which could be hazardous to the water supply. I will

         19  throw out to you certain types of pesticides are

         20  kept in storage tanks, some of them can be

         21  underground. By definition underground means at

         22  least, if only ten percent of the tank is

         23  underground, it is considered underground.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: There

         25  would be very little in the way of storage of
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          2  pesticides, if any, in that kind of a situation.

          3                 I mean, pesticides are applied on the

          4  watershed to individual lawns, are utilized in

          5  right-aways by utilities, and in office

          6  environments.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But I just threw

          8  that out as an example, because we don't know, and

          9  unless we have an inventory and we do an inventory

         10  as to underground storage tanks, we don't exactly

         11  know what there is out there. I know that you and I,

         12  we have taken it out with the Watershed Agreement

         13  with the Whole Farm Program which involved all types

         14  of fertilizers and other things which may very well

         15  be on the farm, but are there -- can you visualize

         16  any other type of storage tanks other than gasoline

         17  and diesel fuel storage tanks in the watershed area?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: Sure,

         19  tanks would include solvents, you know, in

         20  operations, dry-cleaning operations, industrial

         21  operations.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Perc.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: Perc,

         24  exactly, or trichlorethylene or methylene chloride

         25  or one of the common solvents, there might be areas
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          2  where that exists. Those are regulated by DEC. Our

          3  watershed rules and regulations do not specifically

          4  give us the authority to regulate those, but that

          5  being said, if we are aware of any problem, we have

          6  the authority under the Environmental Conservation

          7  Law, to take independent action if the state does

          8  not with regard --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Anything within

         10  the watershed area is within the jurisdiction of

         11  DEP.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: That's

         13  correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Any type of

         15  contaminant.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: If they

         17  are violating a law. In terms of permitting, we

         18  don't have the authority to require them to come

         19  before us for a permit.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But the federal

         21  legislation that we are talking about today is the

         22  law, and if they are violating the federal

         23  regulations and the federal law it is a violation of

         24  the law.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: We would
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          2  have to call the feds in to enforce that.

          3                 We would only have the authority to

          4  enforce --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Right now that

          6  is the situation, that is the whole nexus of what we

          7  are doing here, for the simple reason the state

          8  hasn't passed the enabling legislation to let the

          9  state do it. Then you have to coordinate it with the

         10  feds.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: With

         12  regard to pesticides, we monitor again not only for

         13  volatile organic chemicals that would be associated

         14  with petroleum, but we do the entire synthetic

         15  organic chemical list which has virtually every

         16  commonly applied pesticide, and, again, we are very,

         17  very comfortable, we just don't see anything in that

         18  monitoring program.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Is there

         20  anything that you have heard here today that would

         21  cause you to say, look, maybe we better look around

         22  a little bit in the watershed area and do a little

         23  more scrutinization as to what is up there and to

         24  make sure that in no way are we going to be affected

         25  by the water quality? And the reason I am saying
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          2  that is because we have a problem. We have a problem

          3  that because the state hasn't passed the enabling

          4  legislation, all the enforcement is really being

          5  done by eight persons in Region 2, which includes

          6  New Jersey, Puerto Rico and Virgin Islands, the

          7  American Virgin Islands, so there really isn't

          8  anyone out there with the capability of enforcing it

          9  other than eight persons who probably don't have the

         10  knowledge that they probably need.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: And who

         12  probably spend more time in the Virgin Islands on a

         13  population basis than they do here.

         14                 But my counsel points out that we are

         15  requiring the facilities in the watershed to have --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That was done in

         17  jest, right?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: Yes, it

         19  was.

         20                 That have a non-compliant regulated

         21  activity to register with us that may be a way of

         22  doing some additional tracking of what is out there.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes. But it is

         24  something to think about, because while I was

         25  sitting here, and you probably noticed, I know you
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          2  were out of the room a little bit, I am always

          3  thinking of the watershed.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: As am I.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You have

          6  properly programmed me, and Mr. Hoffer especially.

          7                 Do you have any comments that anyone

          8  would like to make?

          9                 Nothing else.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I have a

         11  question.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Council Member

         13  Sabini has a question.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Commissioner

         15  Tormenta testified earlier that there were ten sites

         16  that the City remediated, any of them yours?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: There

         18  have been sites remediated at a couple of facilities

         19  within the watershed, and also there are a number of

         20  facilities that I am responsible for that are not

         21  actually in the watershed. They are facilities right

         22  below dams so they are not in the City's watershed.

         23  And there is one of those, there is one remaining

         24  site that has been, a gasoline storage tank was

         25  replaced, contaminated soil was removed, taken to
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          2  hazardous landfill, and monitoring roles are in

          3  place to see if there is a need for further

          4  remediation.

          5                 So, if you look at the chart you will

          6  see that for the Grahamsville Garage, there is still

          7  -- it has not been brought to closure but we don't

          8  have any evidence that that in any way poses a

          9  significant threat.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: So one of them

         11  has been fully remediated?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: I am

         13  saying that is the one that at this point may still

         14  require --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: How many were?

         16  You said a bunch were?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: Actually

         18  I can get that number for your, that is something

         19  that DDC did and I can go back and look at it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But there were

         21  some?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: Yes,

         23  there were.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Now, on the

         25  list of 614 there is a whole bunch, RJs and Ashokan
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          2  Reservoir.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: That is

          4  all downstream of the reservoir.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: All downstream

          6  of the reservoir?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: And one

          8  in Tannersville and one in Brewster.

          9                 Those are sewerage treatment plants.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: All right.

         11  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am not sure I

         13  understood the question or the answer, so I will ask

         14  it myself.

         15                 On this list of 614, which we got

         16  from the Law Department, of unknowns, they list, I

         17  don't know, maybe 12 all under Ashokan Reservoir,

         18  all 12 storage tanks, are you making a

         19  representation to me that all of these, and I will

         20  show you the list if you want to see them?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: I looked

         22  at it very quickly, but most of them would be like

         23  City House 1, City House 2.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Are you making a

         25  representation to me that all of these, where there
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          2  are underground storage tanks in these facilities,

          3  they are all in full compliance with the federal

          4  law?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: I know

          6  they are in compliance with state law. I can find

          7  out for you if they are in compliance with federal

          8  law, I don't know the answer to that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Can you find

         10  out?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: I can

         12  find that out for you, but those are not in the

         13  watershed, those are old City houses that we are

         14  currently using on a temporary basis to house my

         15  staff and those are heating oil tanks.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay. Diesel

         17  tanks. They all say diesel.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: Number

         19  two fuel oil is very similar.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: One waste oil

         21  you have --

         22                 MR. HOFFER: Mr. Chairman, I would

         23  also point out that some of those tanks may not be

         24  subject to the federal regulations.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It may be, it
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          2  may not, I don't know. But they are on this list as

          3  being possibly subject to federal regulations.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: We have

          5  houses there, we also have our maintenance shop, and

          6  so the other facilities you are talking about are

          7  associated --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So these are not

          9  within the watershed area?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: That's

         11  correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Now, within the

         13  watershed area we do have underground storage tanks.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: There

         15  are several, yes. Most of the underground fueling

         16  tanks have been since converted to above ground.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay. But those

         18  which are under the jurisdiction of the new federal

         19  law, are you making a representation to me they are

         20  in full compliance with the federal law?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: I will

         22  get back to you on that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am talking

         24  about the ones in the watershed.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: I am
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          2  confident they are compliant with state law.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It is a

          4  different question, but you gave me the same answer,

          5  which is fine.

          6                 Okay, any other questions?

          7                 Okay, thank you very much again. I

          8  enjoy your presence, as usual, and I thank you for

          9  being here on a Friday afternoon.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: Thank

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: As usual, I know

         13  you are doing your job well.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STASIUK: Thank

         15  you very much.

         16                 MR. HOFFER: We are always glad to see

         17  you. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Give my best to

         19  the Commissioner.

         20                 Next we have Cathy Kenny. I am sure

         21  you have a statement for us.

         22                 MS. KENNY: Good afternoon, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I think your

         24  microphone is off.

         25                 MS. KENNY: Is it on now?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It is on now.

          3                 MS. KENNY: Good afternoon, Mr.

          4  Chairman and members of the Committee.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Welcome. It is

          6  always nice to see you.

          7                 MS. KENNY: Thank you. I am Cathy

          8  Kenny, Associate Director of the New York State

          9  Petroleum Council.

         10                 With the Chair's permission I would

         11  like to summarize my testimony in the interest of

         12  time.

         13                 Look at the smiles I got.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Not only with

         15  permission but with the Chair's urging.

         16                 MS. KENNY: Well, you know who I

         17  represent and if I say nothing else this afternoon,

         18  I would like to congratulate this Committee for

         19  bringing this to a head. This is the first

         20  legislative body I have heard and I am only aware of

         21  that has dealt with this issue.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I will

         23  congratulate Mr. Sabini and Mr. Spigner.

         24                 MS. KENNY: There was no state hearing

         25  that I am aware of on this, there is no other town
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          2  doing -- and I am fairly sure I would have been

          3  aware of it, so congratulations.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, you would

          5  have. Thank you very much.

          6                 In all humility, we accept your

          7  compliment.

          8                 MS. KENNY: Okay.

          9                 The problems for the major oil

         10  companies who I represented on this issue are

         11  essentially two-fold: Obviously we spent hundreds of

         12  millions of dollars upgrading our facilities, and

         13  before the December 1998 deadline, we issued the oil

         14  companies, and that is attached to my testimony,

         15  letters to all of their customers. Obviously their

         16  own facilities they had already upgraded, but we

         17  performed the function of supplier to mainly

         18  independent and national localities, we informed

         19  them we would not deliver if the tanks were not

         20  upgraded.

         21                 So, low and behold, as a matter of

         22  fact the oil companies were suspicious that EPA was

         23  not in the position to enforce this regulation, so

         24  there were ongoing discussions between my parent

         25  company API and EPA.
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          2                 In May we sent them a letter signed

          3  by six national associations asking EPA how they

          4  were going to enforce their document. In August EPA

          5  said don't worry, don't worry, we are going to

          6  enforce it.

          7                 One of the big things that they

          8  reinforced with us that they would not grant a grace

          9  period, that deadline would be respected.

         10                 Less than three months later, of

         11  course, they back paddled essentially.

         12                 Before that announcement, I think the

         13  announcement that they were rolling back their

         14  regulations and enforcement was December 9th, before

         15  that occurred the companies had sent out their

         16  letters.

         17                 So, one of the immediate problems the

         18  company had is, well, we have told our companies we

         19  won't deliver, EPA says they now have a grace

         20  period. So, they were in a quandary about their own

         21  contractual obligations with their suppliers. So

         22  they were left hanging out on that limb.

         23                 Another problem that arose, actually

         24  arose with a case in Indiana. There the state said

         25  that the supplier would be termed an operator and if
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          2  you delivered to a tank where there was a leak, he

          3  would be stuck cleaning it up.

          4                 So there we were, we had upgraded our

          5  tanks, had complied with the law and now we are told

          6  if we deliver, and we might be forced to because of

          7  contractual obligations, we would have to -- we

          8  might be liable.

          9                 Interesting in that case, however, is

         10  that New York filed an Amicus Brief, so even in New

         11  York State now we feel rather vulnerable about

         12  clean-up liability.

         13                 I think some of those frankly

         14  consequences may have been unintended, but this is

         15  the problem what you do when you make hay with the

         16  law and ignore the regulations.

         17                 One of the interesting questions I

         18  think for New York State is a lot of numbers were

         19  rolled around. API conducted a survey or contracted

         20  with a consultant to do a survey of 50 states. DEC

         21  replied. We asked them several questions. One of

         22  them was, what is your full compliance likely to be

         23  in December by the deadline? DEC's response, and I

         24  have a copy of their response, was that they had

         25  31,522 tanks, that 88 percent were not in full
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          2  compliance and that they had 30 inspectors.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: This is the

          4  State of New York?

          5                 MS. KENNY: This is the State of New

          6  York.

          7                 So, it is interesting, and as was

          8  already pointed out, only New York, Idaho and Hawaii

          9  were states where EPA has the enforcement authority.

         10                 So, I think an interesting question

         11  to ask EPA at this point is if New York State is the

         12  state -- the only other state I think was Alabama,

         13  they came in at 79 percent compliance, I think the

         14  number now has been clarified, maybe it is 78

         15  percent non-compliance in New York State.  So, let's

         16  just take 78, it is a lower number than the one they

         17  gave us early in November of '98, if New York State

         18  is out of compliance more than any other state and

         19  they are supposed to give priority and they only

         20  have eight inspectors and DEC only has 30, what

         21  priority are they giving to New York State.

         22                 I think Council Member Millard (sic)

         23  asked them some interesting questions about Puerto

         24  Rico on the Virgin Islands.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Miller.
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          2                 MS. KENNY: Miller. Sorry. He's gone.

          3                 I think New York State, or New York

          4  City has to get their own act in order and I think

          5  Council Members on this Committee properly looked

          6  into the matter.

          7                 I want to make one final note.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Are you saying

          9  that the State only has 30 inspectors to do this?

         10                 MS. KENNY: That is what they told us.

         11  I can only rely on what they told us. We got the

         12  information from DEC's bulk storage unit. I can give

         13  you the name of the gentleman we contacted.

         14                 I also have a chart of the 50 states.

         15                 You have to keep in mind, in all of

         16  the other states, the states either have stricter

         17  requirements, are giving no grace periods

         18  whatsoever, so only New York State the irony is will

         19  facilities be granted because of EPA is the only law

         20  we have, they are going to be giving grace periods

         21  and whatnot.

         22                 I am not even sure who is eligible

         23  for these grace periods.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Who will be

         25  giving out grace periods?
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          2                 MS. KENNY: Under the guidance

          3  document that EPA issued on December 9th, they said,

          4  well, because so many USTs, and I am not

          5  exaggerating, this is in the enforcement document,

          6  because so many facilities are out of compliance we

          7  have decided to relook at this and we are going to

          8  just set up priorities, we are going to, in our

          9  inspections we are going to look at multi-tank

         10  owners, we are going to look at those tank owners

         11  that have facilities near, you know, vulnerable

         12  ecosystems, et cetera. They also reduced the fines.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Cathy, what does

         14  this have to do with the grace period?

         15                 They may not be able to get there to

         16  do the inspections --

         17                 MS. KENNY: Well, you had to by

         18  February 12th identify yourself as a sinner, and

         19  then there was a grace period to get yourself in

         20  compliance. I think that is until June.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We have been

         22  told they are not extending any deadlines.

         23                 MS. KENNY: Well, you have to look at

         24  the document, but they are giving them about six

         25  months to comply.
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          2                 You had to identify yourself, you had

          3  to show that --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And then they

          5  will give you additional time, once you identified

          6  yourself as a sinner?

          7                 MS. KENNY: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is what you

          9  are saying.

         10                 MS. KENNY: You would have to show

         11  that you were on your way, you had a contract maybe

         12  with a contractor to upgrade your system, et cetera.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: In other words,

         14  if you are making some sort of an effort to do some

         15  remediation, they are not going to come down on you

         16  as hard?

         17                 MS. KENNY: Well, I gave Jim the

         18  guidance document, I read it, it is kind of mushy. I

         19  frankly, unless I am sure the agency has more

         20  minutia than I saw.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It is important,

         22  because we have been told there is no extension. But

         23  if there are some circumstances, if you start in

         24  doing the work to comply with the law, they give you

         25  some --
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          2                 MS. KENNY: That to me is an

          3  extension. If they said you had to be in compliance

          4  be December 22nd and now --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, you are

          6  still subject to a fine.

          7                 MS. KENNY: Well, the fines

          8  originally, Stan, were $11,000 per day. The new

          9  guidance document said they were, those fines would

         10  essentially be reduced from 75 to 100 percent.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am glad you

         12  brought that to our attention.

         13                 MS. KENNY: I think the final thing to

         14  note, too, when we talk about resources and not

         15  getting ready, there is a story in one of the papers

         16  up in Albany. It is an old guy, stationed, you know,

         17  in existence in his family for 52 years, his two

         18  sons run the business and he had to close down. Now,

         19  that is what that guy had to do, it was his

         20  livelihood and that is what he was required to do

         21  and now he is in the process of upgrading his tanks.

         22                 So, you know, what is good for the

         23  goose is good for the gander, and frankly --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I agree.

         25                 MS. KENNY: The whole industry is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            203

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  rather concerned about their confidence in this

          3  agency to live up to its commitments, to negotiate

          4  anything.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The agency being

          6  EPA.

          7                 MS. KENNY: EPA, yes.

          8                 So, I think the industry's ire is

          9  quite justified, I note that in my testimony.

         10                 And the other interesting thing, and

         11  this is a personal parenthetical comment, I am not

         12  aware of even the environmental community's outrage

         13  at this rollback. Which isn't to say I haven't read

         14  everything, but usually if the environmental

         15  community makes a statement similar to the

         16  industry's, I would have heard about it by now. So

         17  there may have been local, but I know of no national

         18  press releases or expression of anger by the

         19  environmental community about this. You know, and a

         20  City that is very worried about its water supply,

         21  there are hearings all over other states about NTBE

         22  contamination, the way to get rid of those things is

         23  to make sure your tanks aren't leaking. Never mind

         24  about what is in it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: No, I join you
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          2  in the fact that I think this is extremely

          3  important, and I am very glad that the industry is

          4  on board on this, and it is important that it should

          5  be onboard on it.

          6                 MS. KENNY: There is a competitive

          7  disadvantage too. There is a guy with a station down

          8  the block who hasn't invested the money and, you

          9  know --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But the industry

         11  is taking a position that they will not deliver?

         12                 MS. KENNY: The letter, and those are

         13  all the majors, I have attached to my statement.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And the industry

         15  has implemented this policy?

         16                 MS. KENNY: As far as I know.

         17                 There may be extenuating

         18  circumstances, but that was the statement they gave

         19  their dealers. There is letters there to Carol

         20  Browner explaining the same thing.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Sometimes the

         22  industry doesn't know about the tanks are leaking.

         23                 MS. KENNY: I'm sorry?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: There may be

         25  circumstances where the industry won't know about a
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          2  leak.  Though when you are filling the tank you

          3  probably would learn from somebody there was a leak.

          4                 MS. KENNY: Well, it is not just

          5  leaks, this is really an issue, have you upgraded

          6  your tanks to meet federal guidelines.

          7                 You know, other states you would have

          8  had to certify that you did or the state wouldn't

          9  let you -- there are 20 states that say we will not

         10  permit you to deliver. Now, our companies took that

         11  position way before those laws, or some of the laws

         12  were enacted.

         13                 So, there are 20 states that say we

         14  won't permit you to deliver unless you are upgraded

         15  to federal standards. New York has no such statute.

         16  New York has nobody enforcing the law.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Because of the

         18  fact the state hasn't passed enabling legislation.

         19                 MS. KENNY: Well, the state could have

         20  passed legislation.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It should have.

         22                 MS. KENNY: Not only just the Omnibus

         23  Bill, but when this was coming out other states had

         24  the foresight to pass, you know, legislation.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Why is that? How

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            206

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  do you explain that?

          3                 MS. KENNY: I quite often think there

          4  are many complaints among the states about unfunded

          5  federal mandates. So when you give a program like

          6  this, that is this extensive, some states will balk

          7  and rightfully or not rightfully --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Every state has

          9  complied with it except for three.

         10                 MS. KENNY: Well --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Why has New York

         12  State not complied? In your opinion, why haven't we

         13  seen legislation?

         14                 MS. KENNY: Well, you know, when the

         15  bulk storage unit has 30 inspectors, I guess they

         16  had to be real and say we couldn't enforce it.

         17  Unless you give us more personnel.

         18                 I don't know if there is a reluctance

         19  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You don't think

         21  the State Administration is pushing for enabling

         22  legislation?

         23                 MS. KENNY: I haven't looked at that

         24  legislation in awhile, but I would bet you a good

         25  dinner that that is not part of the Governor's
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          2  program bills.

          3                 There is a bill that the Governor is

          4  proposing that would increase the -- there is now

          5  currently a four senate tax or fee per barrel on

          6  oil, and that funds the State's oil spill clean-up,

          7  among other things. He has just proposed to increase

          8  that to eight cents because there was concern that

          9  the oil spill fund --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The only costs

         11  that I see involved here are hiring more inspectors

         12  or retraining the inspectors we have on the state

         13  level to be able to determine what is going on here.

         14                 MS. KENNY: If somebody wants to do

         15  something, Stan, they do it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The cost of

         17  actually upgrading is borne by the owners, which may

         18  be some of your people who own some of the stations

         19  as well. And EPA has already testified that they

         20  will provide grant money to help facilitate this.

         21                 MS. KENNY: The grant money that they

         22  give to the states, that is the LUST Fund, Leaking

         23  Underground Storage Tank. It is a fairly big fund,

         24  but when it starts trickling down to the states, I

         25  did have the number and maybe it is in my file about
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          2  how much New York State gets, I don't think it is a

          3  lot. It could be two or three million by the time it

          4  trickles down. It is not a hell of a lot of money.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Who is lobbying

          6  against the State legislation, if anyone?

          7                 MS. KENNY: I am total blank on that,

          8  Stan. I really can't tell you.

          9                 I can find out.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Why don't you

         11  find out and let us know.

         12                 MS. KENNY: You know, the bill hasn't

         13  been circulating for awhile so I am not up on it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay. Well,

         15  anything you can do to find that out, I really would

         16  appreciate it.

         17                 Also, if you can tell the industry

         18  that we are very pleased about what they are doing,

         19  number one. And number two, we would appreciate

         20  their cooperation if they know of leaky tanks that

         21  they could inform us of, so that we can, or EPA of,

         22  so that we can make sure that they re-put

         23  compliance.

         24                 MS. KENNY: I think that is their

         25  anger. Well, leaking tanks is, you know, bells --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, tanks out

          3  of compliance with the law.

          4                 MS. KENNY: Well, that is the trouble,

          5  in New York you have no way of knowing. In other

          6  states, like Massachusetts, you have to have a red

          7  tag that indicates --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So you think

          9  what we need here is a law that requires the owners

         10  of these tanks to certify that they are in

         11  compliance with the feds?

         12                 MS. KENNY: That would make sense. The

         13  companies were going crazy, they had no way of

         14  knowing if their customer complied. There was nobody

         15  enforcing it, there was no red tag law in the state,

         16  there was no law that you know --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I understand.

         18  But can your individual companies say to the owner,

         19  we want you to certify to us that you are in

         20  compliance with the law or else we are not

         21  delivering?

         22                 MS. KENNY: Those letters I attached

         23  to my testimony were requests by the oil companies

         24  to their customers to certify and there were little

         25  forms.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And I imagine

          3  the customers have complied with that?

          4                 MS. KENNY: I am presuming, and you

          5  may hear from one of the company's customers today,

          6  that if you didn't comply they would not deliver.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So that kind of

          8  economic power is very great. If the agency --

          9                 MS. KENNY: It is, but I guess they

         10  don't want to be the enforcer. It is not their job.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That's pretty

         12  much enforcement, if you say, Mr. Gas station owner,

         13  you are not getting any gas to earn any money from

         14  if you don't tell us you are in conformity with the

         15  state law.

         16                 MS. KENNY: Well, it is hard to check,

         17  the guy could certify, but it is a little hard to

         18  check.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You may not have

         20  to check. It is not your job to check.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: You could get

         22  gas from another supplier.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS:  Of course you

         24  could get gas from another company, but of course

         25  that would require them to change all of their
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          2  signs.

          3                 MS. KENNY: I'm sorry?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: What I said

          5  was, you could get gas from another supplier, he

          6  said it would require them to change their signs,

          7  and you know and I know that that is not the case.

          8                 MS. KENNY: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Just because

         10  it says Mobil, it doesn't mean you are buying Mobil.

         11                 MS. KENNY: Well, no, they won't

         12  deliver so you can't fly a Mobil flag. You would

         13  have to take down your agreement and that ends your

         14  relationship.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That's what I am

         16  talking about.

         17                 MS. KENNY: And then you would have to

         18  find another supplier.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But there are

         20  people who buy other gasolines.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Illegally, and

         22  they can breach a contract with --

         23                 MS. KENNY: Sure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: When you are a

         25  Mobil station you are required to buy from Mobil.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: By Mobil, not

          3  by the State.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: By what?

          5                 MS. KENNY: Yes. If you have a supply

          6  contract with Mobil, yes, you pay them and they give

          7  you the product.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The contract

          9  says you cannot buy other than Mobil.

         10                 MS. KENNY: No. Actually Exxon has

         11  contracts -- their franchise agreements permit you

         12  to buy -- we call those open dealers -- Exxon will

         13  permit you to put up --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Yes, a whole

         15  big state issue.

         16                 MS. KENNY: John and I had a

         17  discussion about this.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Will permit you

         19  to do what? Finish your statement.

         20                 MS. KENNY: Well, for example, Mobil

         21  in their franchise agreement, they will permit a

         22  dealer to put up their own pump and sell another

         23  gas, but they have to separate it to certain

         24  requirements.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They have to let
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          2  people know that is not the gas that they're --

          3                 MS. KENNY: Exactly.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Very subtle.

          5  Very subtle.

          6                 MS. KENNY: Well, if you put $1.2

          7  million in a station and upgrade it to federal

          8  standards you would like them to sell you gasoline,

          9  yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay. So there

         11  is some economic power on the part of the --

         12                 MS. KENNY our problem results,

         13  though, I should distinguish, our franchisees are no

         14  problem, because we own those tanks in the stations

         15  and we do the work. It is our open-end dealers,

         16  those who own their own property, own their own

         17  tanks and we just sell them product. That is the

         18  problem, and whether of knowing they have upgraded

         19  their tanks or not, and it has been a particular

         20  problem in New York.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But if all of

         22  the industry, the people you represent, get together

         23  and say we are not going to sell gasoline to anyone,

         24  whether it is our station or not, who have not

         25  certified to us that they are upgraded, but then you
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          2  have the fly-by-night outfits that go around selling

          3  it.

          4                 MS. KENNY: You have a lot, because I

          5  think I saw a figure nationwide, I think the majors

          6  only represent 20 percent of the tank population.

          7  You have a lot of independents around the country

          8  that --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How does a

         10  person like me know when I go into a station that I

         11  am getting the gas that I want to pay for?

         12                 MS. KENNY: I only go to the API

         13  member companies. I suggest you do the same.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How do we know

         15  if you are going by the company or not? Would you

         16  get me a list.

         17                 MS. KENNY: Because of anti-trust

         18  reasons there is no way I would have that

         19  information in my file.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But there is

         21  some way we should know -- how does a person know

         22  when they go to a gas station that --

         23                 MS. KENNY: That it is a franchisee?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes, or an

         25  independent?
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          2                 MS. KENNY: Well, I can tell you

          3  Merit, for example, are what we call company-ops,

          4  they are all owned by the companies, so they are not

          5  a member of API but that is the situation.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How about Amoco,

          7  for instance?

          8                 MS. KENNY: Amoco, that varies, yes.

          9  They have their franchise, they have open dealers.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You have no way

         11  of knowing?

         12                 MS. KENNY: I don't think so. I mean,

         13  I don't think so. You can ask the guy.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Can you swear

         15  them in first?

         16                 We have digressed. Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 MS. KENNY: Thank you. You asked all

         19  the right questions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you. And

         21  any information that you have about stations where

         22  tanks are out of compliance, we will --

         23                 MS. KENNY: I would be happy to.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We will make

         25  sure the EPA gets them.
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          2                 MS. KENNY: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 Our last but not least witness, Mr.

          6  James McPartlin.

          7                 It is always a pleasure to have you

          8  here, Cathy.

          9                 MR. McPARTLIN: Hi. I am Jim

         10  McPartlin. I am a third generation Mobil-branded

         11  service station operator and also a tenant of the

         12  City, specifically HPD. I am one of those, how would

         13  you say, lessee for the City of New York tanks that

         14  were not addressed by the City of New York but got

         15  on that list of 614 because of the EPA.

         16                 As of December 21st of last year when

         17  the EPA regulations were coming into effect, we

         18  received our last delivery of fuel, as per law. Any

         19  fuel to be received after that, the source of the

         20  fuel, whether it be Mobil or someplace else would

         21  risk that terminal source to be closed down.

         22                 Despite the fact of bringing to the

         23  attention of the City of New York, specifically HPD,

         24  along with various Deputy Mayors during various

         25  administrations, bringing the fact of the EPA
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          2  regulations that have been in effect for ten years,

          3  addressing the issue that I would be willing to

          4  comply on their behalf and upgrade the facility,

          5  provided they did one of two things: Give me a

          6  long-term lease or sell me the property.

          7                 And in 1994, a similar tenant of the

          8  same agency, HPD, in the Harlem Urban Renewal, was

          9  granted the opportunity to purchase this property in

         10  order to upgrade the facility.

         11                 At that point in time I thought HPD

         12  had seen the light and therefore went out and had

         13  plans and cost estimates and sent it all in and

         14  requested the same treatment in order to comply with

         15  the environment.

         16                 The driving force behind this is that

         17  six of the eight tanks of that list of 614, those

         18  tanks are older than me, and at some point they are

         19  going to leak.

         20                 Well, I hate to say this, but some

         21  time after that request in '94, guess what happened?

         22  We had a leak, just a little piss hole in a pipe and

         23  only under certain conditions would it actually

         24  contaminate the soil.

         25                 And of course, I notified HPD, who
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          2  was the owner and liable source ultimate. And DEC of

          3  course was notified and we are an official DEC spill

          4  site. And despite bringing it to HPD's attention, we

          5  have to address this because until the dirty soil is

          6  addressed, every time it rains the dirty soil makes

          7  dirty water. So, as of December 31st, the State has

          8  spent approximately $750,000. This grows at the rate

          9  of at least $30,000 a month, and again, HPD waited

         10  until December 9th to have a meeting with me on

         11  these environmental regulations, and not to waste

         12  any time, I brought the EPA to the meeting. And the

         13  EPA had a solution, sign the consent order, this man

         14  can continue to receive fuel -- by the way, I also

         15  fuel, was fueling at least 11 City agencies on the

         16  gas card system because their tanks had been closed

         17  down, including the Fire Department, including HPD.

         18                 Well, at the meeting we also had the

         19  DEP there, the DBS, because it also presented an

         20  opportunity to deal with, I believe it is Local Law

         21  10, the City's mandate to use alternative fuels, and

         22  the only time it makes sense to --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Six, Local Law

         24  6.

         25                 MR. McPARTLIN: Local Law 6. -- To put
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          2  alternative fuel into any facility is when you are

          3  doing a major upgrade. And we had that consensus

          4  with everybody except HPD and the Law Department.

          5                 The consent order was refused,

          6  therefore, shortly after that last delivery I had

          7  been out of fuel.

          8                 I remind you also that I was also the

          9  major supplier of diesel fuel to the motion picture

         10  industry, and as the season picks up there is going

         11  to be major problems, and ambulances that run on

         12  diesel fuel.

         13                 With no Lincoln Tunnel traffic the

         14  ambulance has to go, the closest place is at 30th

         15  and 11th Avenue and that is 20 minutes with no

         16  tunnel traffic, that the ambulance is out of

         17  service.

         18                 I also remind you that that location

         19  is scheduled for a football stadium.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Not so fast.

         21                 MR. McPARTLIN: But there is a problem

         22  there because that property is owned by the

         23  Government of France and if they take that away

         24  maybe we will lose the Statue of Liberty.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You digress.
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          2                 MR. McPARTLIN: I wanted to bring to

          3  your Committee's attention how serious is the

          4  ignorance by certain City agencies of their tanks,

          5  liabilities. I am forced, if there is not a rapid

          6  solution to my particular problem, to then go and

          7  say my civil liberties have been taken from me, my

          8  business has been taken away from me by the

          9  ignorance of this particular City agency.

         10                 I am trying not to do that, I am

         11  still talking with them, and want to do an upgrade

         12  and hopefully alternative fuels too.

         13                 But I need help from the City

         14  Council, it is for the benefit of the environment,

         15  the taxpayers' money is just going down the tubes

         16  every month, and I am here to answer any questions

         17  that you may want to ask about whatever.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So you are not

         19  operating your station now?

         20                 MR. McPARTLIN: I am operating parking

         21  and repairs and cigars.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The gas I am

         23  talking about.

         24                 MR. McPARTLIN: No gas. Not since

         25  December 21st. It was the last delivery.
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          2                 Like I said, the oil company wanted

          3  to see me back there, they haven't taken their sign

          4  down yet, but at some point they will. Gas card has

          5  taken their equipment out.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And the City has

          7  been requested to upgrade your fuel, underground

          8  fuel tanks and conform to the federal --

          9                 MR. McPARTLIN: The City, it has been

         10  brought to their attention by the EPA that they are

         11  in violation of the EPA guidelines, and either they

         12  comply or they will be fined.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You heard the

         14  Corporation Counsel here earlier saying that both

         15  the City and the lessee may very well be the owners.

         16                 MR. McPARTLIN: The City has taken the

         17  position in my case that by being a tenant of HPD,

         18  that you are responsible for any problem that they

         19  have.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The City is

         21  telling you you have to do the upgrade?

         22                 MR. McPARTLIN: The HPD and the Law

         23  Department has taken the position that they are the

         24  highest authority of the land.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But they are
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          2  telling you that you have to do the work?

          3                 MR. McPARTLIN: Right. Correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And how much

          5  would that involve in the way of costs?

          6                 MR. McPARTLIN: Okay, if it was just a

          7  straight upgrade, in this case which requires total

          8  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What would it

         10  take to conform with the federal regulations,

         11  because that is what you have to do?

         12                 MR. McPARTLIN: $300,000 just without

         13  any dirty soil, et cetera, with an additional

         14  $40,000 to move the current remediation equipment

         15  that is on the site.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You have the

         17  standard form City lease that says they can

         18  terminate it on 30 days notice?

         19                 MR. McPARTLIN: I have no written

         20  lease whatsoever. I am there on a month-to-month

         21  tenancy with no lease, with no liability signed off

         22  on.

         23                 The property was condemned in 1969

         24  for urban renewal and at that point HPD became the

         25  great landlord and said now you are on a 30-day
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          2  notice.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The City's

          4  general leases contain a 30-day notice, whether you

          5  have a lease or not.

          6                 Okay, are there any questions?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Yes, Mr.

          8  Chairman. I just wanted to say, Mr. McParltin, you

          9  brought to life what otherwise is a lot of sort of

         10  bureaucratic finger pointing here. I mean, you are a

         11  living example of what the result can be and how

         12  this can cost money in the economy, not just in

         13  terms of remediation costs, but just your business,

         14  and in some ways it would have been perhaps best if

         15  you were the first witness. We don't normally do

         16  that, we usually have the government testify first.

         17  But your story really shows what can happen and

         18  cause all kinds of problems because people sort of

         19  let things go.

         20                 In your case, being a tenant of the

         21  City makes it even doubly bureaucratic, because not

         22  only are we not complying, but in effect you are the

         23  City tenant. So, that is kind of sad and it is sad

         24  that you have to be caught up in this catch-22 of

         25  business, and I hope that if nothing else, that this
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          2  hearing and other attempts by this Committee to

          3  clear this up result in making some people's lives

          4  like yours a little easier, because you really are

          5  bringing a human face to this problem.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 MR. McPARTLIN: I would also like to

          8  comment on something that wasn't addressed here that

          9  could be useful for the Committee, is that there is

         10  a state fund that is available to municipalities for

         11  remediation where they can recover up to 75 percent

         12  of the cost, and I did not hear that here today at

         13  the meeting, and I just wanted to let you guys be

         14  aware of that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you own the

         16  tanks?

         17                 MR. McPARTLIN: No, the City owns the

         18  tanks, virtue of the condemnation you get what is

         19  there, and tanks are also, had I put tanks in after

         20  the City ownership it would be considered a fixture

         21  and they would still be held responsible.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The tanks are

         23  owned by, as far as you are concerned the tanks were

         24  installed by the City and owned by the City?

         25                 MR. McPARTLIN: Right. And my lawyer
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          2  is also a graduate of Pace University Environmental

          3  Law School and is an expert on environmental law.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay. Is there

          5  anything else from anybody?

          6                 Thank you, Mr. McPartlin.

          7                 MR. McPARTLIN: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Are there any

          9  other witnesses?

         10                 There being none, this meeting is

         11  adjourned. Thank you, everybody. Have a nice

         12  weekend.

         13                 (Hearing concluded at 5:06 p.m.)
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